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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome to this

          3  afternoon's hearing of the City Council Committee on

          4  Transportation. My name is John Liu and I have the

          5  privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6                 Today's hearing has been convened for

          7  I guess two purposes related, one has to do -- one

          8  is an oversight hearing on the Staten Island Ferry,

          9  and specifically we will be examining the February

         10  12th, 2004 report of the Global Maritime and

         11  Transportation School on behalf of the City's

         12  Department of Transportation that provides a

         13  comprehensive assessment of the Staten Island Ferry

         14  operations.

         15                 In large part, the fact that this

         16  vital report was commissioned and completed so

         17  quickly was due to the tragic crash of the Staten

         18  Island Ferry Andrew J. Barberi on October 15th of

         19  2003. Many were hurt and injured in the crash and 11

         20  people lost their lives. So the issues concerning

         21  the ferry have been since put in the spotlight.

         22                 The report of the Global Maritime and

         23  Transportation School not only identifies numerous

         24  instances of problems and inadequacies in the

         25  overall Staten Island Ferry operation, but it also
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          2  contains specific recommendations and suggestions

          3  for improving those operations.

          4                 The Committee understands that Rear

          5  Admiral Chris McMahon from the Global Maritime and

          6  Transportation School is with us today and will be

          7  available to converse with the Committee about the

          8  reports, findings and specific recommendations. And

          9  in fact, today's oversight hearing will focus on the

         10  findings and recommendations and certainly will not

         11  delve into the causes or what happened that led up

         12  to the crash in October.

         13                 The second thing that we will focus

         14  on today is proposed Intro. No. 94-A, a bill that

         15  would mandate minimum service and schedule

         16  requirements for the Staten Island Ferry.

         17                 This Committee heard testimony on

         18  this bill's predecessor, Intro. No. 56, in the City

         19  Council's prior legislative session.

         20                 Proposed Intro. No. 94-A would

         21  accomplish several things. The first would be to

         22  establish a minimum service schedule for the Staten

         23  Island Ferry. The schedule set forth in the bill

         24  seeks to more adequately service comport with

         25  existing demand.
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          2                 This minimum schedule would provide

          3  for greater service than is currently provided in

          4  recognition of the needs of individuals seeking to

          5  travel by mass transit between Staten Island and

          6  Manhattan.

          7                 We're all acutely aware of the fact

          8  that the Staten Island Ferry serves as Staten

          9  Island's principle means of transit. It is the

         10  linchpin by which most Staten Islanders travel to

         11  and from work, as well as to many other important

         12  destinations.

         13                 Because it is the primary means of

         14  public transportation for so many Staten Islanders,

         15  service should be maintained at a level that at

         16  least meets demand. That is the heart of proposed

         17  Intro 94-A, to ensure that Staten Islanders have

         18  appropriate, reliable and frequent mass transit

         19  options.

         20                 The second thing the bill would do is

         21  to provide for certain permissible service

         22  disruptions, such as mechanical malfunction, or

         23  severely inclement weather.

         24                 However, there is accountability

         25  built into the bill. Service would have to be

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  restored within 48 hours of the disruption, and a

          3  written report detailing the reasons why the

          4  disruption occurred, would have to be submitted to

          5  the Speaker of the Council by the Department of

          6  Transportation.

          7                 If service is disrupted for longer

          8  than 48 hours, the report would have to indicate why

          9  and what is being done to resolve the problem.

         10                 Service disruptions lasting longer

         11  than 30 days would require the approval of the City

         12  Council by local law. Approval by local law would

         13  also be required for any diminution of service.

         14                 On a quick note, proposed Intro. No.

         15  94-A differs only in one way from its predecessor

         16  Intro. No. 56. It would mandate slightly more

         17  frequent service from St. George to Manhattan on

         18  weekdays during the morning rush hour from 7:00 to

         19  8:00 a.m.

         20                 We're pleased to have the Department

         21  of Transportation's Commissioner Iris Weinshall,

         22  along with the DOT's First Deputy Commissioner Judy

         23  Bergtraum, who will testify relative to both items

         24  on today's agenda.

         25                 At this point I'd like to take a
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          2  moment to thank my colleague, Council Member Mike

          3  McMahon, for being so vigilant in his efforts to

          4  ensure a safe, efficient, a reliable and adequate

          5  Staten Island Ferry service.

          6                 It is due to his efforts in large

          7  part that we are sitting here today. And so, before

          8  we hear from our first panel of witnesses, I'd like

          9  to turn the floor over to Council Member McMahon, so

         10  that he may say a few words.

         11                 Council Member McMahon.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         13  Chairman Liu, and I just want to add that one of the

         14  great benefits of representing a part of Staten

         15  Island is that I have two other colleagues with whom

         16  I am able to work most of the time without fighting,

         17  and it's sort of that three-person effort that makes

         18  us I think an effective force, considering our low

         19  numbers, and, of course, that's Minority Leader Jim

         20  Oddo, and my colleague Andrew Lanza, who have also

         21  worked very hard on this issue, and who are

         22  co-sponsors of the bill.

         23                 I just want to state briefly a little

         24  history on this issue for me personally and I think

         25  from my friends from Staten Island who are here, and
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          2  then just speak about why we requested this hearing,

          3  and what we hope to accomplish.

          4                 Growing up on Staten Island, and even

          5  into adulthood using the ferry to go to college, law

          6  school and then to work, it was quite clear to me

          7  that the ferry was really almost an unwanted

          8  stepchild.

          9                 I'm happy to say that that was long

         10  before the current Administration was in office and

         11  it was long before Commissioner Weinshall was the

         12  Commissioner. But it was quite clear that the ferry

         13  was treated very much like an unwanted stepchild and

         14  was seen as a very local issue, a very local

         15  transportation system and something that was really

         16  only affecting Staten Islanders. And when we came

         17  into office after the election of 2001, Jim had been

         18  here previously, the first budget that was proposed

         19  that we dealt with proposed some dramatic cuts in

         20  ferry service, understandably. The City was in the

         21  throws of a very, very difficult budget crisis, even

         22  still this confirmed what I had believed all along

         23  that the ferry was considered a very local, a very

         24  just administrative matter, and it wasn't seen as

         25  the life and death issue that we now realize it is
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          2  tragically. It wasn't seen as the lifeblood of all

          3  Staten Islanders, and it wasn't seen as the world

          4  class tourist attraction that it should be.

          5                 Through hard negotiations I think

          6  here in the City and up in Albany, we were able to

          7  convince the Administration that the ferry service

          8  was too important to have those cuts, and I know

          9  Commissioner Weinshall was very pleased that those

         10  cuts did not come into effect.

         11                 Shortly thereafter the crash happened

         12  and certainly changed our lives, and the lives of so

         13  many Staten Islanders. And our hearts continue to go

         14  out to the victims and their family, but it is in

         15  their memory that I think we renewed our resolve,

         16  not only from the Council, but I know the

         17  Administration and clearly the Commissioner, to make

         18  sure that the ferry has the service and the

         19  resources that it needs.

         20                 And certainly, as I said at our last

         21  hearing, we all stood on the Staten Island side

         22  shortly after the crash and could see the

         23  Commissioner's compassion and inner sorrow about

         24  what had happened, and also the resolve to see that

         25  something like that never happened again.
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          2                 So, this hearing is not any type of

          3  witch hunt. This is not a politicization of the

          4  issue. This is simply an attempt by us to do what we

          5  can and to write to the issue as much as we can, in

          6  terms of providing safer, better and we believe more

          7  frequent ferry service to examine what the

          8  Department is doing in terms of GMATS. And as you

          9  all know, in March, Chairman Liu and Speaker Miller

         10  visited Staten Island and Manhattan, both sides,

         11  took a ride on the ferry, and also I think shared

         12  the same resolve, that we were going to work

         13  together in a bipartisan across the Administration

         14  and Council line, to make the ferry to be what it

         15  should be, safe and reliable, and also as a showcase

         16  for all of New York.

         17                 And, so, this is the first in three

         18  hearings. In June we will have a hearing on the

         19  reconstruction project for the terminal, to see

         20  where we are with that, and then a third hearing to

         21  deal with the quality of life issues.

         22                 And having said that, let me just

         23  thank you, Chairman, for allowing us to bring these

         24  issues to the fore and to work together to make sure

         25  that our -- that we are able to live up to our
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          2  commitment and make sure that such a terrible

          3  accident never happens again, that the ferry becomes

          4  the world class transportation system that it's

          5  meant to be and that we can get the terminals

          6  reconstructed as well.

          7                 So, having said that, I thank you and

          8  I look forward to hearing from the Department.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         10  Member McMahon.

         11                 We're also joined by Council Member

         12  James Oddo from Staten Island, and joining us today

         13  in the Transportation Committee are Council Member

         14  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, Council Member Sara

         15  Gonzalez from Brooklyn, Council Member Helen Sears

         16  from Queens, and Council Member Joe Addabbo from

         17  Queens. I would like to thank my Legislative Counsel

         18  for the Transportation Committee Mr. Schwartz for

         19  putting all of this work into this hearing. And at

         20  this point, it's my pleasure to welcome Commissioner

         21  Iris Weinshall, and First Deputy Commissioner Judy

         22  Bergtraum.

         23                 In this room you have to press it so

         24  that the light is on.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: You hear me,
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          2  right? Okay. Somehow I like it better in City Hall.

          3  It's antiquated but you know how to work it, right?

          4                 Good afternoon. I am Iris Weinshall,

          5  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

          6  Transportation, and with me today is Judith

          7  Bergtraum, DOT's First Deputy Commissioner, and Rear

          8  Admiral Chris McMahon, of the Global Maritime and

          9  Transportation School at the United States Merchant

         10  Marine Academy.

         11                 I'm pleased to be here again to

         12  provide another update and to specifically brief the

         13  Council on the GMATS February 12th assessment of the

         14  Staten Island Ferry's Operation.

         15                 My testimony will focus on the steps

         16  and changes we instituted prior to the issuance of

         17  the GMATS report. And then focus on the GMATS report

         18  itself, its specific recommendations and steps we've

         19  already taken to implement these recommendations.

         20                 I will then conclude with some brief

         21  comments regarding proposed Intro. 94-A, which would

         22  set forth a daily minute-by-minute schedule for the

         23  Staten Island Ferry Service.

         24                 But first, let me begin by stating

         25  that October 15th was one of the darkest and saddest
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          2  of my tenure as DOT Commissioner. There is nothing

          3  more important as a provider of City services in

          4  ensuring the safety of our customers.

          5                 Yet, back on this day last year, a

          6  ferry operated by DOT was involved in a tragic

          7  accident that led to the death of 11 of our fellow

          8  citizens and scores of injuries to others. My

          9  prayers and thoughts are with those who lost loved

         10  ones and those who are still recuperating from the

         11  injuries sustained that day.

         12                 For the past 98 years, we have

         13  operated this municipal ferry service. Last year our

         14  fleet of seven ferries, safely serviced more than 19

         15  million passengers, with an average of 104 passenger

         16  trips each and every weekday between the St. George

         17  Ferry Terminal on Staten Island and Whitehall in

         18  Lower Manhattan.

         19                 Though like any mass transit system,

         20  we are not immune to safety problems. We have had a

         21  safety record of accomplishments of which the ferry

         22  workforce and the Staten Islanders should feel

         23  proud. But this history cannot undo the tragedy that

         24  occurred. The National Transportation Safety Board

         25  is still conducting its investigation into the
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          2  accident. In addition, the United States Attorney

          3  for the Eastern District is conducting its own

          4  investigation.

          5                 It is imperative that we not only

          6  understand what happened on the 15th, but that we

          7  act quickly and thoroughly to help ensure that

          8  something similar never happens again.

          9                 Accordingly, we are moving forward

         10  with the most aggressive and dramatic overhaul this

         11  ferry operation has seen since its inception. The

         12  riders of our ferry deserve no less.

         13                 During the last six months we've

         14  undertaken many safety initiatives. Measures

         15  designed to bolster safety immediately. Among the

         16  steps we've ensured a permanent presence in the

         17  pilot house, provided all crew members with radios,

         18  implementing a check-in system, required passengers

         19  to stand back during landings, pursued an interim

         20  compliance program, improved the public address

         21  system, enhanced public announcements, placed safety

         22  advisory signs on all of our boats, and required new

         23  uniforms.

         24                 As of January 1st, 2004, DOT began

         25  issuing new uniforms. From February 18th, deck hands
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          2  have been required to wear full uniforms, shirts,

          3  jackets and pants, to ensure that ferry staff is

          4  easily identifiable.

          5                 New summer-weight uniforms for deck

          6  hands are expected to arrive in the next few weeks.

          7  And we'll also be issuing below-deck personnel

          8  uniforms as well, so that all ferry personnel are

          9  easily identifiable.

         10                 These steps have substantially

         11  enhanced safety on our ferries, and I'm proud of our

         12  accomplishments in such a short period of time. But

         13  our work is far from done.

         14                 As you know, following the accident

         15  on October 15th, DOT hired the global maritime and

         16  transportation school at the United States Merchant

         17  Marine Academy to review existing Staten Island

         18  Ferry operations and make recommendations for safety

         19  enhancements.

         20                 GMATS is an entity that consists of

         21  more than 300 experts from the military and the

         22  government, as well as executives from maritime and

         23  transportation industry. In addition to GMATS, DOT

         24  has also been consulting with Rear Admiral Robert

         25  North, who is the former US CoastGuard Captain of
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          2  the Port of New York.

          3                 GMATS began its assessment of the

          4  ferry operation in early November, and concluded

          5  their review with a detailed report on February 12th

          6  of this year.

          7                 GMATS concluded that the Staten

          8  Island Ferry is a safe and dependable operation that

          9  complies with Coast Guard regulatory standards.

         10                 They also made a series of

         11  recommendations, which they believe will enhance the

         12  safety and efficiency of the operations.

         13                 In its report, which I have shared

         14  with you, and which is posted on our website, GMATS

         15  urged DOT to pursue the following:

         16                 Number one, a safety management

         17  system. One of the major recommendations is to

         18  develop and implement an SMS, or Safety Management

         19  System, as the key to improving the overall

         20  operation.

         21                 SMS has become a maritime industry

         22  standard. In 1993, the International Maritime

         23  Organization, adopted the International Safety

         24  Management Code for the safe operation of ships and

         25  pollution prevention. This code requires
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          2  implementation of an SMS for all vessel systems

          3  operating in international waters. Given that the

          4  Staten Island Ferry does not operate in

          5  international waters, adhering to the ISM code and

          6  implementing the SMS are not requirements.

          7                 Essentially an SMS is an

          8  organizational structure covering all aspects of the

          9  operation, including the boats themselves,

         10  terminals, maintenance operations, management and

         11  administration. It's design to standardize every

         12  aspect of a maritime system and requires that

         13  detailed best practice procedures be developed and

         14  implemented for every aspect of the operation.

         15                 It includes:

         16                 - a defined organizational structure

         17  with levels of authority and lines of communications

         18  delineated.

         19                 - policies and procedures for all

         20  aspects of the operation.

         21                 - a system to ensure that all ferry

         22  personnel are properly trained in the SMS policies

         23  and procedures.

         24                 - quality assurance for the provision

         25  of the SMS, internal audits and management.
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          2                 The purpose of the SMS is to ensure

          3  that standard operating procedures are developed and

          4  followed for every facet of the operation.

          5                 The SMS is intended to be a source of

          6  information and direction for all staff. GMATS

          7  believe that it may take as long as 24 months to

          8  design, develop and fully implement the SMS. It

          9  strongly recommends that existing Staten Island

         10  Ferry personnel be involved in developing the SMS,

         11  both to take advantage of their operational

         12  experience and to foster a spirit of cooperation,

         13  which will be critical to the success of the

         14  program.

         15                 Second recommendation. Bridge Team

         16  Management. A critical GMATS recommendation is the

         17  establishment of a Bridge Team Management system and

         18  training program designed specifically for the

         19  Staten Island Ferry Operation.

         20                 GMATS recommends a rotating pilot

         21  house, comprised of three licensed officers, with

         22  two officers to be in the pilot house all the times.

         23                 The addition of the third officer

         24  will permit appropriate rest periods and will

         25  facilitate carrying out other supervisory functions
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          2  while still maintaining two officers in the pilot

          3  house at all times.

          4                 The additional officer will also

          5  provide necessary supervisory assistance in the

          6  event of an emergency.

          7                 The Bridge Team Management System

          8  will set out specific responsibilities for all

          9  personnel in the pilot house and ensure that their

         10  activities are closely coordinated to facilitate

         11  safe navigation and fulfill other supervisory

         12  responsibilities.

         13                 The system will set our required

         14  variations from standard procedures based on

         15  emergencies and other anticipated conditions, such

         16  as adverse weather.

         17                 There are several steps needed to

         18  implement the Bridge Management System. First, a

         19  Bridge Team Operation's Manual will need to be

         20  created, which will include an inventory of Bridge

         21  Team tasks.

         22                 Second, a Bridge Resource Management

         23  course, tailored specifically to the Staten Island

         24  Ferry operation, must be developed in order to train

         25  the teams of staff.
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          2                 Additionally, DOT will have to

          3  recruit, identify and hire new licensed officers to

          4  have a large enough pool of qualified staff to

          5  implement the new bridge management system.

          6                 The third recommendation,

          7  organizational structure and human resources.

          8                 GMATS recommends a new management

          9  structure, an augmented staffing in specific aspects

         10  of the operation.

         11                 The key to the new structure is the

         12  hiring of a Chief Operations Officer for the Staten

         13  Island Ferry.

         14                 GMATS believes that the COO will play

         15  a critical leadership role and provide direction in

         16  guiding the system during a time of transition.

         17                 GMATS also recommends that the COO

         18  have significant maritime and management experience,

         19  as well as specific experience with the safety

         20  management system.

         21                 GMATS also recommends that the Staten

         22  Island Ferry Operation hire 95 additional staff to

         23  implement the SMS and the overall program, including

         24  increased manning levels, increased training, and

         25  reduced reliance on overtime.
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          2                 Twenty-four of the staff are needed

          3  just to operate as it does today, without relying on

          4  the use of significant amounts of overtime.

          5                 Beyond that, additional staff is

          6  needed to implement the SMS to allow relief for

          7  training and drills and to prevent fatigue.

          8                 The 95 new staff also include the

          9  addition of several senior level staff - a senior

         10  port engineer, a senior port captain and a safety

         11  manager.

         12                 These staff will support the COO and

         13  properly oversee ferry operations.

         14                 4. Technical Training and

         15  Professional Development. As an integral component

         16  of the SMS, GMATS recommends that a comprehensive

         17  technical and professional development program be

         18  designed specifically for the Staten Island Ferry

         19  crews and shore-based personnel. Again, GMATS

         20  recommends that existing ferry personnel be

         21  consulted in developing a program that will fit the

         22  needs of the operation.

         23                 Some of the training will be for the

         24  purpose of continuing to meet CoastGuard mandates.

         25  Other training will be for job duties, operation of
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          2  the vessel, security, equipment procedures, safety,

          3  environmental compliance and other aspects of the

          4  SMS.

          5                 The SMS will establish the type and

          6  content of training needed and will lay out the

          7  procedures to develop and implement training on a

          8  continuous and ongoing basis.

          9                 The fifth recommendation. Operations,

         10  procedures, security and utilization of advance

         11  maritime technology.

         12                 GMATS makes a number of

         13  recommendations for improving operations, equipment

         14  and overall safety.

         15                 GMATS advises that their specific

         16  recommendations are subject to change or

         17  modification, as their assessment of ferry operation

         18  continues.

         19                 Based on the evaluation to date,

         20  GMATS recommends the following significant

         21  improvement.

         22                 Number 1. Upgrading bridge navigation

         23  equipment, including updating existing radars,

         24  installing automatic radar plotting aids, electronic

         25  chart display and information systems, and
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          2  multi-directional speed indicators to allow

          3  monitoring of the boat's speed in all directions

          4  during docking.

          5                 Number 2. Improving firefighting and

          6  safety equipment, including increasing life-saving

          7  capacity and installing marine evacuation slides to

          8  improve ability to evacuate passengers in an

          9  emergency.

         10                 Conducting a detailed review of

         11  at-sea casualty and emergency response plans in

         12  coordination with the local authorities and private

         13  assets. We anticipate that the institution of new

         14  procedures will necessitate some changes to the

         15  set-up on the boats.

         16                 To address this, DOT will contract

         17  with a Naval architect who will be tasked with

         18  developing designs to accommodate the changes.

         19                 GMATS recommends that we strengthen

         20  our relationship with the Coast Guard. In this

         21  regard, the Coast Guard has agreed to work with us

         22  to revise the existing memorandum of understanding

         23  to require the strictest oversight under subchapter

         24  H.

         25                 We have shared the GMATS reports and
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          2  recommendations with the Coast Guard. The Coast

          3  Guard supports DOT's efforts to make affirmative and

          4  voluntary steps to improve the system and supports

          5  the approach set out in the GMATS' report.

          6                 Working with GMATS, as well as the

          7  Coast Guard, we are now moving forward aggressively

          8  to implement the recommendations.

          9                 We intend to adapt the SMS system and

         10  to make the organization changes necessary to

         11  implement that system.

         12                 At the same time, DOT will work with

         13  GMATS and the Coast Guard in evaluating the

         14  individual recommendations, as the assessment

         15  process continues and changes are implemented.

         16                 To date we've made significant

         17  strides in four areas:

         18                 Number 1. Hiring a Chief Operating

         19  Officer. Based on the recommendations in the GMATS

         20  report that I noted earlier, we've actively

         21  recruited for a qualified Chief Operating Officer,

         22  and placed job postings in the New York Times, Wall

         23  Street Journal and the Maritime Industry

         24  publications and websites.

         25                 DOT also did outreach to maritime
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          2  schools to recruit qualified candidates. I'm pleased

          3  to report that we received over 120 resumes from

          4  applicants across the country and just this week we

          5  announced the appointment of our new COO, Captain

          6  James DeSimone. His background includes the unique

          7  blend of vessel operations, shore-side management

          8  and maritime training and educational experience in

          9  both the private and public sectors. Most recently

         10  he was Vice President of Operations for New York

         11  Water Taxi and oversaw all aspects of the company's

         12  maritime operation. He will be instrumental in

         13  ushering the Staten Island Ferry into a new era and

         14  I am happy to welcome him into the DOT family.

         15                 Number 2. Hiring. As I noted, the

         16  GMATS report also recommends the hiring of 95

         17  additional staff persons. We are moving forward on

         18  this and are in the process of recruiting new

         19  deckhands and marine oilers. We are seeking

         20  applicants from a wide pool of candidates and have

         21  been actively recruiting for these positions in the

         22  maritime industry publications and websites.

         23                 Number 3. Training. The GMATS team

         24  designed a custom-made eight day training course for

         25  our new ferry staff, the first six days of which
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          2  will be spent at the Merchant Marine Academy, and

          3  the last two on the ferry boats at St. George.

          4                 This training program was designed

          5  exclusively for us, given the unique nature of the

          6  Staten Island Ferry.

          7                 We expect to send our first class of

          8  new recruits to the Academy within the next two

          9  weeks. At the end of the training course, the new

         10  hires will have received six United States Coast

         11  Guard approved licenses: 1) Crowd Management &

         12  Passenger Safety, 2) Crisis Management & Human

         13  Behavior, 3) Personal Survival, 4) Personal Safety &

         14  Social Responsibility, 5) Basic Shipboard

         15  Firefighting, and 6) Elementary First Aid - with a

         16  CPR issued by the American Heart Association.

         17                 At the end of this training course,

         18  the four additional days of on-the-job training will

         19  precede their first final boat assignment.

         20                 And fourth, technology. The GMATS

         21  report recommends that we take advantage of advances

         22  in technology and utilize state-of-the-art

         23  navigational equipment. In this regard, we have

         24  expanded the use of Global Positioning Systems to

         25  all of our boats. Until recently, only four boats
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          2  were outfitted with GPS technology to augment radar.

          3                 These boats were the Austen, the

          4  Noble, the Samuel I. Newhouse and the American

          5  Legion.

          6                 As of November 7th, the GPS was in

          7  place on the two remaining boats in service, which

          8  are the Kennedy class, the Lehman and the JFK. As of

          9  November 24th, all captains and assistant captains

         10  were trained on the GPS. Later this spring, we

         11  expect to add further enhancements to the radar and

         12  will provide staff with appropriate training.

         13                 I am proud of the strides that we

         14  have made, and I can tell you that this is only the

         15  beginning. In the next several weeks, we will be

         16  moving forward in other aspects of the GMATS

         17  recommendations. The riders of the ferry and the

         18  people of Staten Island deserve no less. In

         19  addition, I am happy to report that the Andrew J.

         20  Barberi is expected to be back in service around

         21  mid-June.

         22                 Now I would like to turn my attention

         23  to the proposed Intro. 94-A, which would set forth a

         24  daily minute-by-minute schedule for Ferry service

         25  between the St. George and Whitehall Terminals, and

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  which, most notably, mandates half-hour overnight

          3  and weekend service and an additional boat during

          4  morning ferry service.

          5                 This bill would also make DOT

          6  accountable to the Council for any disruption of

          7  service, including a requirement that any service

          8  disruption in excess of 30 days or any proposed

          9  reduction in service would require Council approval

         10  by local law.

         11                 Although this bill is a

         12  well-intentioned attempt to provide additional

         13  transit options to Staten Islanders, DOT does not

         14  support this bill. First, it would mandate a

         15  specific ferry schedule which essentially attempts

         16  to micromanage the Staten Island Ferry operation and

         17  which, in fact, would leave no discretion to DOT,

         18  the City agency that is charged with managing and

         19  operating the Staten Island Ferry.

         20                 Additionally, it should be noted that

         21  for the Council to legislate a ferry schedule is not

         22  consistent with the New York City Charter mandates

         23  regarding separation of powers, in that the City

         24  Council's role is to create generalized standards

         25  while the Mayor's or his or her appointee's role, is

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  to enforce those standards in making individualized

          3  determinations while carrying out standards and

          4  policies established by the City ordinances.

          5                 Secondly, the additional monetary

          6  resources needed to provide this service far exceeds

          7  passenger demand for the service. Ferry service

          8  frequency is based on passenger demand. The current

          9  demand for overnight service does not justify

         10  increasing such frequency beyond the present

         11  service, which is hourly, from midnight until 6:00

         12  a.m.

         13                 The boats that are used to provide

         14  overnight service are often class boats, have a

         15  passenger capacity of 1,280. Our findings show that

         16  the average number of passengers on each overnight

         17  boat is 146, which translates into a load factor of

         18  only 11 percent.

         19                 DOT conducted passenger counts in the

         20  spring of 2002, and found that the number of late

         21  night passengers utilizing the ferry range from a

         22  low of 23 passengers from St. George at 2:00 a.m. in

         23  February, to 572 passengers from White Hall at 1:30

         24  a.m. on a Saturday night in June. The average daily

         25  ridership of the Staten Island Ferry between White
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          2  Hall and St. George is 65,000 passengers. Overnight

          3  ridership averages just 1,760 passengers, while only

          4  2.7 of the daily average.

          5                 The extra service as proposed in this

          6  bill is imprudent, given not only the low demand for

          7  the service, but also corresponding costs involved.

          8  Our current overnight schedule, which includes six

          9  trips in each direction, using one Austen Class

         10  vessel, costs the City approximately $2.6 million

         11  annually, with the corresponding cost per passenger

         12  of $4 per trip.

         13                 The bill requiring half hour service

         14  would increase the cost of overnight service by an

         15  additional $3 million annually to $5.6 million and

         16  would inflate the cost per passenger to over $8.70

         17  per trip. Included in this calculation is the cost

         18  of an additional 330,000 gallons of fuel that would

         19  be spent annually, and an extra 23 crew members and

         20  support staff that DOT would be required to hire in

         21  order to comply with US Coast Guard regulations.

         22                 The expanded schedule would also

         23  increase the wear-n-tear in our boats and require us

         24  to accelerate the replacement of the Austen class

         25  boats by approximately five years to 2011, an
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          2  approximate cost of $30 million per boat.

          3                 This would also require the doubling

          4  of NYPD coverage on our boats and due to the age of

          5  the existing Staten Island Ferry fleet, and our

          6  mandated U.S. Coast Guard maintenance schedules, it

          7  would force us to use our larger boats of 3,500

          8  passenger Kennedy Class, during a four-month period

          9  each year.

         10                 Lastly, the MTA's bus, subway and

         11  Staten Island railway schedules are all built around

         12  meeting Staten Island's Ferry departures and

         13  arrivals.

         14                 If these entities decided not to

         15  incur the additional costs associated with the

         16  expanded ferry service, there would be no transit

         17  links to serve the passengers on the additional

         18  boat, and therefore any potential benefit to ride

         19  from increased ferry service would be eliminated.

         20                 The bill also calls for 15-minute

         21  service, Monday through Friday, between the hours of

         22  7:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. As you know, the ferry

         23  currently operates every 15 minutes between 8:00

         24  a.m. and 9:00 a.m. So, the inclusion of an

         25  additional hour would require us to add one
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          2  additional boat to provide an additional round trip

          3  between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m.

          4                 This additional service would

          5  translate into a cost of approximately $320,000 a

          6  year, which includes crew overtime and fuel costs.

          7                 In addition, there would be no added

          8  benefit to providing the additional service since

          9  our existing capacity during that hour far exceeds

         10  the demand.

         11                 In other words, by looking at this

         12  demand capacity, we're already providing more seats

         13  than passengers are using. Lastly, should this

         14  schedule be implemented it would shorten the

         15  boarding time of the ferries between 8:00 a.m. and

         16  9:00 a.m., which would surely inconvenience

         17  passengers trying to meet their boats.

         18                 Lastly, this bill calls for half

         19  hourly weekend service, and we estimate this cost at

         20  approximately $936,000, which supports the hiring of

         21  ten additional staff and fuel costs.

         22                 In conclusion, while this bill

         23  represents a well-meaning attempt to expand ferry

         24  service, the passenger demand does not warrant the

         25  additional $4.2 million annual cost the DOT alone
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          2  would need to implement the added service, funding

          3  that is simply not available.

          4                 I should also point out that these

          5  are not costs that can be skimped on. As described

          6  earlier, we're moving the Staten Island Ferry in a

          7  direction where more resources are needed to ensure

          8  safe first rate service, not less.

          9                 As we grapple with the improving

         10  existing service, it would be irresponsible to offer

         11  new service that we're not prepared financially to

         12  provide.

         13                 A possible solution that would not

         14  only be responsive to nighttime passenger demand,

         15  but also should be more cost efficient than

         16  utilizing our Austen class boats is Congressman

         17  Fosella's efforts to help fund the purchase of fast

         18  ferries for the Staten Island Ferry.

         19                 These boats would be smaller in size,

         20  and therefore would require fewer crew members and

         21  less fuel to operate, and accordingly would reduce

         22  our operating costs. In fact, as you may be aware,

         23  the Congressman has earmarked $14 million for the

         24  purchasing of these ferries in the TEA-LU bill which

         25  recently passed the House of Representatives.
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          2                 While this amount fell short of the

          3  funding needed, it is a step in the right direction

          4  and something that should be continue to be

          5  considered.

          6                 Let me close by saying that the

          7  transportation needs of Staten Island residents and

          8  the ferry riders are of the utmost importance to

          9  DOT, and that we've devoted an extensive amount of

         10  planning and resources to seeing that these needs

         11  are met.

         12                 We are in the midst of an

         13  unprecedented and enormous transition that will in

         14  the end transform the Staten Island Ferry to a first

         15  class ferry operation.

         16                 We are already beginning to see the

         17  transformation of the two existing terminals into

         18  new state-of-the-art world class intermodal

         19  transportation and commercial hubs, and the Guy V.

         20  Molinari, the first of three new Kennedy class

         21  boats, will be placed into service this fall.

         22                 We will also be seeing the

         23  transformation of the very nature of the operation

         24  itself. While we have made significant progress in

         25  the six months since the accident, I would like to
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          2  caution everyone that institutional change cannot be

          3  brought about overnight.

          4                 In time you will see a far different

          5  ferry operation that exists today. And so that I ask

          6  you all for your patience and time, as we work

          7  towards real change that will result in a world

          8  class ferry operation that we can all be proud of.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         11  Commissioner Weinshall.

         12                 Staten Island Ferry service is a

         13  world class service in a world class city. In fact,

         14  Staten Island Ferry is one of the leading symbols of

         15  New York City, so we certainly appreciate your

         16  efforts in trying to improve it as much as possible.

         17                 A number of us do have questions

         18  about your testimony and I'll start with a couple of

         19  them and then defer to my colleagues.

         20                 Before we start with the questions, I

         21  just want to note for the record that we've been

         22  joined by Committee members, Council Member Miguel

         23  Martinez from Manhattan, Council Member Andrew Lanza

         24  from Staten Island. I think we've covered everybody

         25  else. And Council Member Diana Reyna is between
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          2  hearings. So, she was here briefly, and we expect

          3  that at some point she'll be back again.

          4                 I've been asked to break for two

          5  minutes, so that we can allow technological

          6  adjustment to this room, if that's okay with

          7  everybody?

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Fine with me.

          9  I've been talking a lot for the last half hour.

         10                 (Recess taken.)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         12  indulgence. We have a few questions for Commissioner

         13  Weinshall and possibly Rear Admiral McMahon, as

         14  well.

         15                 First, Commissioner Weinshall, your

         16  testimony included a summary of the recommendations

         17  put forth by the GMATS assessment, and I certainly

         18  will not claim to be any kind of expert on how

         19  ferries should be operated, and so I commend you

         20  once again for calling upon a prestigious

         21  organization, like GMATS of the United States

         22  Merchant Marine Academy, to help improve the

         23  operations of the ferry service.

         24                 Is the intent of the Department of

         25  Transportation to implement all of the
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          2  recommendations as put forth by this GMAT

          3  assessment.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes, we do.

          5  The only area that we're going to possibly tweak and

          6  change the recommendations, in conjunction with

          7  GMATS and the Coast Guard has to do with the issue

          8  of the safety recommendations, where the Coast Guard

          9  has informed us that they would like to be more

         10  intimately involved in those recommendations and to

         11  see if they make sense, vis-a-vis the fact that the

         12  ferry operates in the New York Harbor, which is

         13  probably the busiest harbor in the world.

         14                 So, that is the one area that we're

         15  going to still be looking to GMATS and the Coast

         16  Guard for further guidance.

         17                 So, what you see today may not be

         18  completely implemented at the end of the process.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The tweaking and the

         20  adjustment would be primarily due to comments and

         21  input from the Coast Guard?

         22                 In other words, you would defer to

         23  the Coast Guard for some of these safety

         24  recommendations and whether they make sense as

         25  written by GMATS?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes. Because

          3  of the nature of the Harbor and the way that the

          4  Harbor operates, we would look to the Coast Guard

          5  for their guidance, their input on those

          6  recommendations.

          7                 Because ultimately, the final arbiter

          8  regarding safety matters is the Coast Guard when you

          9  do operate in the harbor, and we would need their

         10  official sign-off on any official changes we would

         11  make to our current safety plan that has been

         12  approved by the Coast Guard as well.

         13                 As you are keenly aware, people in

         14  the general public are calling for urgent attention

         15  to these matters, and so we held a hearing at the

         16  beginning of December, or perhaps at the very end of

         17  -- I'm sorry, it was at the end of November that we

         18  had our first hearing on the Staten Island Ferry in

         19  the aftermath of what happened on October 15th, and

         20  the Department of Transportation, you testified that

         21  the GMATS report would be ready by the end of

         22  December, and subsequent to that, we were informed

         23  that GMATS was going to be given a little bit more

         24  time and that the report would be ready I guess at

         25  the end of January or beginning of February, is
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          2  there a timetable for the Department to implement

          3  all of the recommendations?

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As I

          5  testified to, just the SMS system alone will take

          6  approximately 24 months to develop and implement.

          7  Different aspects of the report will be implemented

          8  as they're ready. As we announced we now have a

          9  Chief Operating Officer so the human resources and

         10  the staffing functions will start to move ahead.

         11                 We're not going to rush to implement

         12  a plan that we're not completely comfortable or

         13  confident that our staff can operate under, nor are

         14  we going to hold back any aspect of the plan that

         15  can be implemented as soon as possible.

         16                 So, although I would like to see it

         17  all implemented ASAP, we all need to understand that

         18  we are completely revamping the way the ferry

         19  operates and so, therefore, we have to give it the

         20  time needed to be able to implement such a wide

         21  ranging change in the ferry operation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We believe that the

         23  implementation of the recommendations from the GMATS

         24  report is substantial, and any kind of substantial

         25  implementation requires a timetable for prudent
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          2  management, to make sure that things are done with

          3  care, and done properly. But there still has to be

          4  at some point some kind of timetable that's put

          5  together. Is it too early to ask about that

          6  timetable?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It is.

          8  Because I am really looking to -- I mean the

          9  cornerstone of the GMATS system, and the individual

         10  who will be entrusted to really be the band leader

         11  for the SMS system is the Chief Operating Officer.

         12  Clearly he hasn't started yet. He's going to start

         13  in a couple of weeks. We have to sort of assess how

         14  quickly we can work toward implementing the SMS

         15  system, first developing it and then implementing

         16  it. So, I think that I would like to give Captain

         17  DeSimone a few weeks just to get sort of the sea

         18  legs in terms of the operation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Did the Department

         20  begin to actively seek out someone such as Captain

         21  DeSimone only after the GMATS study was concluded?

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, at this point

         24  there is no time frame for the implementation of

         25  these recommendations?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'll say it

          3  again. As we start to move forward, it's my hope

          4  that we will be able to see changes as quickly as

          5  possible. You know, the GMATS report said anywhere

          6  from two to five years could you see changes in the

          7  ferry. Clearly, I would like to see it more two

          8  years than five years, but I'm not going to

          9  presuppose the type of work and effort that's going

         10  to need to go into really taking these changes and

         11  implementing them in the Staten Island Ferry.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can I ask the Rear

         13  Admiral, and congratulations on your elevation in

         14  rank.

         15                 CAPTAIN DeSIMONE: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The GMATS'

         17  conclusions and recommendations, I suppose in the

         18  report, as Commissioner Weinshall just stated, the

         19  report states that a proper amount of time for full

         20  implementation would range anywhere from two to five

         21  years?

         22                 CAPTAIN DeSIMONE: Well, I think the

         23  report says, I think it's two years, two to three

         24  years, is actually for the SMS, the ISM system. And

         25  this, by the way, is not a figure that's pulled out
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          2  of the air, it's actually what has happened in the

          3  international community, where SMS, ISM systems have

          4  been implemented around the world by commercial

          5  shipping companies. This is the time frame that it

          6  takes to do the job the right way.

          7                 Now, the one thing that I want to

          8  also emphasize, to develop your SMS ISM system,

          9  means that as you're developing it, you're also at

         10  the same time incorporating some of the other

         11  recommended changes that are in your report. So, it

         12  isn't as though you're going to have some SMS

         13  system, then that's when the clock starts ticking to

         14  implement the other changes. It's all wrapped around

         15  this system. So, I think, as the Commissioner said,

         16  you're going to see significant changes within the

         17  two-year period, because the rest of the report is

         18  all part of this ISM system, it's all one package.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, what you're

         20  saying, Rear Admiral, is that based on your

         21  experience and GMATS' experience, that the

         22  implementation can be done in two years, two to

         23  three years.

         24                 CAPTAIN DeSIMONE: I think that's

         25  realistic.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. I'll save the

          3  other question for the Commissioner.

          4                 Is there anything about New York City

          5  -- we consider this a very special place -- is

          6  there anything about New York City that would tend

          7  to add to the amount of time that's necessary for

          8  the -- add to the two to three years' time that it

          9  generally has taken in other cities to implement

         10  these recommendations, or is there anything special

         11  about New York City that would actually allow us to

         12  do it in less time.

         13                 CAPTAIN DeSIMONE: Well, I think,

         14  first of all, when we talk about ISM, this has not

         15  been implemented in cities as much as it has been

         16  implemented by individual companies that operate

         17  vessels. So, what we're doing here is we're

         18  suggesting, the analogy is that the DOT Staten

         19  Island Ferry is actually we're treating it as a

         20  company, and typically it's a two-year process.

         21                 Can it happen faster in New York

         22  City? I think there are aspects of it that can,

         23  because I think the DOT has demonstrated its

         24  commitment to make it happen as quickly as possible,

         25  but I think I just heard the Commissioner say she
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          2  doesn't want to jump at things, that she's throwing

          3  something out there or the system is being put in

          4  place that hasn't been properly vetted. We want to

          5  do it the right way the first time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          7                 Commissioner Weinshall, apart from

          8  the timetable for the implementation of these

          9  recommendations, has there been a budget put

         10  together, not necessarily an exact budget but some

         11  kind of a ball park estimate about how much all of

         12  these recommendations will ultimately cost once

         13  fully implemented?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The GMATS'

         15  report talks about hiring additional personnel,

         16  training that personnel, we have sort of an idea in

         17  our heads how much this is all going to cost us. Let

         18  me just say in the budget that's been put forth by

         19  the Mayor, those 95 positions will be funded, as

         20  well as some of the training money that we will

         21  require.

         22                 In addition, in purchasing the three

         23  new boats, the three new Kennedy Class boats, the

         24  analysis that we did talks about surplusing the

         25  boats as the old boats as the new boats came in. As
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          2  part of one of the GMATS' recommendations, they

          3  recommended that we keep one of the Kennedy Class

          4  boats to be used as the training vessel, which we

          5  have and will be doing, and OMB has recognized that

          6  need.

          7                 So that most of the needs that we

          8  have anticipated for this fiscal year have been

          9  funded and have been put into the budget.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How much is the

         11  allowance in next Fiscal Year's budget for this?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: Well, it's

         13  for the 95 positions, and I don't have the exact

         14  amount. We would be using the average salary amount

         15  that DOT uses, as well as some training money has

         16  been put in the budget. So, both PS and OTPS funds

         17  have been placed in the budget, and the

         18  Administration is completed committed towards seeing

         19  these GMATS' recommendations implemented.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: For the 95 positions

         21  based on the DOT average salary, and some allowance

         22  for training and operating an additional training

         23  vessel, sounds like we're talking about perhaps

         24  seven to ten-million dollars a year.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: Councilman, I
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          2  don't know the exact, or I don't remember the exact

          3  number. We'll be happy to get back to you with it.

          4  But suffice it to say, that OMB has funded all of

          5  our requests for the GMATS' implementation, and

          6  you'll see it reflected in the budget when the Mayor

          7  releases it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That would be great.

          9  We actually do have a budget hearing coming up in

         10  two to three weeks, so perhaps we can get that

         11  amount from you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: At that time

         13  I'll be happy to testify to the exact amount that's

         14  been put in the budget.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. One more

         16  question concerning Intro. 94-A, and that has to do

         17  with the cost estimate in your testimony of four and

         18  a quarter million dollars a year, $4.26 million of

         19  annual cost to adhere to the bill or to the

         20  provisions of this legislation. And when we had the

         21  first hearing on the predecessor bill, which was

         22  largely the same, except for one minor aspect, I

         23  believe and that's off the top of my head the

         24  estimated cost per year was about 2 or $2.2 million;

         25  what's changed?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I believe

          3  this bill included the morning boat, which the other

          4  bill did not.

          5                 Am I right, Councilman? Right. So

          6  that was the additional cost.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the morning

          8  boat, we're talking about an extra two trips or

          9  extra three trips?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We would have

         11  to add one additional boat to provide the additional

         12  roundtrip between 7:00 a.m., and 8:00 a.m. This

         13  additional service would translate into a cost of

         14  approximately $320,000 a year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, we're talking

         16  about a $2 million difference between the estimated

         17  cost from the last hearing and the estimated cost

         18  today. This accounts for $320,000. We're looking at

         19  a $2 million difference.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Also, the

         21  half-hourly weekend service adds $936,000 to the

         22  cost, and I'm sorry, but I'm not as familiar with

         23  the bill that Councilman McMahon had introduced in

         24  October of 2002.

         25                 Andra Horsh (phonetic), from our
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          2  Legislative Office, as you know, Councilman,

          3  testified. I guess you had a hearing October 16th of

          4  2002, and she testified that Intro. 56 would

          5  increase the cost of overnight service by an

          6  additional $3 million. So, I think she was just

          7  talking about the overnight service. She wasn't

          8  talking about the weekend service or the morning

          9  service that's now been added to this bill.

         10                 I wasn't there, but I don't know if

         11  she included fuel costs in her estimate. I don't

         12  think so.

         13                 And also, the price of fuel, I think,

         14  as we all know, has risen dramatically, and we've

         15  included that in our estimate as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're talking about

         17  a starting point of $3 million for Intro. 56, the

         18  predecessor bill, then we're tacking on roughly

         19  $300,000 for the morning runs.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And then 900

         21  plus million for the weekend service.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think the original

         23  bill actually already included the weekend service.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, I can

         25  only tell you that, you know, we testified in 2002
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          2  that just the overnight service would cost us $3

          3  million. That didn't include the weekend service, or

          4  the additional service for the Monday through Friday

          5  morning run. So, that would give you the additional

          6  $1.2 million that's added.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          8                 Let me turn the floor over to Council

          9  Member Mike McMahon, who has some questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         11  Chairman Liu. I hate to disagree with you publicly,

         12  but I'm going to have to. The ferry service that

         13  exists right now is not first class and it's not

         14  world class. If anything, it's third class or third

         15  world. And I say that as a Staten Islander, as

         16  someone who uses it. But I want you to understand,

         17  Commissioner, and the staff to understand, that I'm

         18  very passionate about the ferry service, as I know

         19  you are, but everyday I put my 14-year-old son on

         20  the ferry, because he uses it to go to school, and I

         21  see conditions and I see conditions in the terminal,

         22  I see conditions on the boat. I see things that were

         23  not really presented at this hearing. And I'm very,

         24  very concerned because while all the things that we

         25  talk about that we're going to do down the road may
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          2  be fine, there is not the urgency here to get it

          3  done, and there is not the concession or the

          4  agreement that I thought was apparent in the

          5  Administration that we are going to do whatever it

          6  takes to make sure that the ferry service gets up to

          7  a point where it's safe, where it's reliable, and

          8  where it is in fact world class.

          9                 And to go back and forth about a

         10  million dollars more or less on the budget, I think,

         11  again, I have the highest respect for you, and you

         12  know that, but I am a little bit outraged by it,

         13  because I don't think that we are living up to our

         14  commitment to the people of Staten Island and the

         15  people who rely on this ferry service to be safe and

         16  sound.

         17                 I don't know if you've been --

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman,

         19  can I just respond to that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Sure.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I think that,

         22  with all due respect, you're really painting an

         23  unfair characteristic --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'll go over

         25  that. I'll be happy to.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:-- Of both the

          3  terminal and the service that we are providing.

          4                 The City is making an investment of

          5  $120 million to build and provide three new boats,

          6  as well as spending over $300 million --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Which were

          8  committed before the accident.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: -- To build

         10  new terminals. I know that you went out there with

         11  the Speaker to tour the terminals. I think the

         12  public has to keep in mind that while we're

         13  reconstructing those terminals, we're still

         14  operating a ferry service and providing service to

         15  65,000 people per day, and in any type of

         16  construction project there is going to be a little

         17  bit of inconvenience to the commuters.

         18                 As you and I both know the MTA

         19  renovates different subway stations, and does it

         20  around the daily commuter, which is something that

         21  we are doing around Staten Island ferry terminals as

         22  well.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: So, I really

         25  feel that you're painting an unfair picture here of
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          2  what's going on out there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I don't know

          4  if I am because you spoke about the service between

          5  7:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m., as far exceeding the

          6  demand. I would like to know what your counts are

          7  for the 8:00 ferry, because every time I get on the

          8  8:00 ferry, it's standing room only. And the people

          9  in the terminal who are trying to get on the 8:00

         10  ferry in the morning, are crushing in the terminal,

         11  the doors are closing on them, and there is a

         12  problem there, simply because there is not enough

         13  service to take in the demand of passengers who are

         14  waiting in the terminal. Those ferries, this is my

         15  ride, his is my staff's ride, we are there, we take

         16  it to come in here, and I'm standing on the ferry

         17  because there are no seats. So, if somebody is here

         18  saying that the supply of service exceeds the

         19  demand, but I see different in my own eyes but I

         20  feel it's incumbent on me to make clear to my

         21  colleagues and here publicly that that is not the

         22  case.

         23                 You see, to me there is a very basic

         24  premise, and that is, there has to be adequate

         25  service. That's how you obviate a lot of the safety
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          2  concerns. That's how you get rid of overcrowding,

          3  that's how you have well-lit terminals, that's how

          4  you have the things that are necessary to make the

          5  ferry safe. And what's been described here to my

          6  colleagues is not the daily experience that I have,

          7  or the daily experience that my son has, and that I

          8  think I speak on behalf of a lot of Staten

          9  Islanders, is what we are frustrated about, because

         10  the service is not there. And we understand that the

         11  terminals, it's going to be an inconvenience, but it

         12  cannot be a safety concern. People cannot be backed

         13  up in the terminal waiting for a boat that's either

         14  late or not coming, or a service that's not

         15  provided. And that's something that I really take

         16  great issue with, is being told that the service in

         17  the morning, rush hour, exceeds the demand. That is

         18  not the case.

         19                 We can argue about night time

         20  service.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, you

         22  asked me a question, can I answer the question?

         23                 Between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m., there's

         24  about 6,500 to 7,000 passengers who seek to use the

         25  Staten Island Ferry. We provide over 13,000 seats
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          2  during that period of time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And how do

          4  you calculate those numbers of demand, because I

          5  believe the Barberi class, or the SI Newhouse holds

          6  about 6,000 people, right?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes, it does.

          8  Folks sitting and standing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. So,

         10  that's both sitting and standing.

         11                 So, when you're calculating capacity,

         12  you're including standing room only.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: That's the

         14  allowable passenger load by the Coast Guard, and

         15  that grade of ferry service.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay, but we

         17  can debate at a later date whether or not that's

         18  adequate service, but how many people can fit

         19  standing in the terminal right now?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm sorry?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: How many

         22  people can stand in the terminal on Staten Island

         23  right now?

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: At the St.

         25  George Terminal?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

          3                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I don't have

          4  an answer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You see,

          6  that's very important, because if more than 6,000

          7  people are waiting to get on the ferry but they

          8  don't fit in the terminal, then you have a very

          9  unsafe situation because people are crowding, people

         10  are pushing.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman, I

         12  find it hard to believe 6,000 people are standing in

         13  the terminal. That's not what our videos show. That

         14  would mean that we would every day be missing trips

         15  and that 6,000 people would be standing in the

         16  terminal.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But the

         18  people are waiting in the terminal, outside the

         19  terminal.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The boats are

         21  leaving every 15 minutes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Every seven

         23  minutes between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m.

         24                 See, I agree with you, it should be

         25  every 15 minutes between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m., that
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          2  would help alleviate the problem, because the 15

          3  minute run is so important.

          4                 But we can argue about that all day

          5  long, but I just don't think that someone who is

          6  there, as I am, and sees what happens at 8:00 in the

          7  morning, can say this is a world class operation.

          8                 Commander McMahon, let me ask you

          9  this: The GMATS school is in existence how long?

         10                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: GMATS has been

         11  around about ten years now. The U.S. Merchant Marine

         12  Academy has been around since 1942 officially, I

         13  think, '43.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And prior to

         15  October 15th of last year, did you ever approach the

         16  City of New York and offer your services to review

         17  the ferry operation?

         18                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: No, I did not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Did the City

         20  ever contact you and ask you to review the

         21  operations?

         22                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Have you ever

         24  done any similar analysis of what you've done now

         25  for the City for any other city for public
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          2  operation?

          3                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Not

          4  specifically on ferry operations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, this is

          6  the first time. Up until that time it's only been

          7  for private merchant lines?

          8                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Could you

          9  repeat the question?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes. Until

         11  you've undertaken this contract with the City, have

         12  you ever done any other type of ferry operation

         13  analysis or recommendations?

         14                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Not GMATS, but

         15  the team that we put together included ferry experts

         16  that have done just this kind of thing.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And for

         18  where? What location?

         19                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Washington

         20  State Ferry system, for example, which I think

         21  provides an analogy to here.

         22                 Just by way of background, GMATS, as

         23  mentioned in the Commissioner's statement, what we

         24  do through both our three education and training

         25  divisions and our research divisions is really a

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  network of experts that we rely on to do different

          3  projects, whether they be training or research. So,

          4  in the case of when the City approached us to do a

          5  top down assessment, we took people that are

          6  familiar with, say, bridge team operations, which

          7  are generic to say a ferry commercial ship or an

          8  inland vessel.

          9                 Then we also brought in people that

         10  had specific knowledge of ferry systems.

         11                 So, it was a comprehensive team. And

         12  that's the beauty of our schools. We have the

         13  ability to sort of pull this network --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I understand

         15  that. It just strikes me as a little odd that the

         16  Merchant Marine Academy and GMATS has been in

         17  existence, and the Staten Island Ferry, everyone

         18  knows about it and that the relationship between the

         19  two had never occurred before.

         20                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think there's

         21  a number of things that we could do for other City

         22  agencies that we're actually in the process of

         23  looking at right now as we speak.

         24                 The City has not approached us in a

         25  number of other areas where we have expertise.
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          2                 It isn't just -- it isn't just the

          3  DOT, I actually came off of a meeting we had with

          4  NYPD today and there are some things we can do with

          5  those folks. We've been working with FDNY now for

          6  about two years. So, there's other City agencies

          7  that we have some expertise that the City is just

          8  beginning to discover us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'm curious

         10  that you never tried to sell yourself, you know what

         11  I mean, to promote the organization to the City

         12  prior to October 15th.

         13                 But you said you were dealing with

         14  the New York Fire Department for two years?

         15                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: We have done

         16  training for NYPD. We started initially I think in

         17  2002, Maritime Security had training. We've been

         18  working on leadership-type training with FDNY,

         19  trying to implement sort of a partnership or

         20  leadership. We're not there yet, but we're working

         21  on it. So, we have been working with other City

         22  agencies.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But didn't

         24  you ever look and say, gee, we should take a look at

         25  the ferry operation?
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          2                 I mean, I'm not trying to imply

          3  anything. I'm just curious that you guys are so

          4  close to each other, and why this marriage didn't

          5  occur sooner.

          6                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think it's

          7  sad that it didn't. I think that we've developed a

          8  terrific partnership now, and I can tell you that

          9  our job, being a national school, is to serve really

         10  the industry across the United States, whether

         11  that's government, military or commercial industry.

         12  So, we're out there, and believe me, I've personally

         13  spent a lot of time on the road to do just what

         14  you're suggesting. But unfortunately, it's taken

         15  longer to get a relationship going with New York

         16  City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Had your

         18  organization ever approached the City prior to

         19  October 15th, regarding ferry operations?

         20                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: No. Definitely

         21  not with the ferry, no.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: If I were to

         23  say to you, Admiral, you have free reign, I want you

         24  to get SMS up and running on this ferry operation as

         25  quickly as possible, how quickly could you do it?
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          2                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think the

          3  report is the responsible time frame, and, again,

          4  that's --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, you're in

          6  charge of ferries now, I want you to get it up and

          7  running. How soon could you do it?

          8                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I would give

          9  you a two-year time frame. Because you don't want to

         10  short change. You don't want to trade speed for

         11  quality, because then you're going to then have a

         12  set of procedures that you've implemented that may

         13  not be the best possible system, and then to undo

         14  that, once you figure out they're not right, it's

         15  going to take an even longer time.

         16                 So, I think you want to approach this

         17  with a responsible number.

         18                 And, again, that two-year time frame

         19  is not something that's just magically out of thin

         20  air, it's based on what shipping companies around

         21  the world have basically used.

         22                 Shipping companies operating six

         23  vessels up to 90 vessels and to implement an SMS

         24  system, it takes time. It takes crew buy-in,

         25  management buy-in, it takes resource buy-in. It's a
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          2  pretty complicated thing, and you need to do it

          3  responsibly. And I think that doesn't mean to say

          4  that you won't see changes until two years. I think

          5  there's already been some changes. The City has

          6  already been implementing many of the changes that

          7  we've offered. And you're going to start seeing more

          8  changes because the SMS system starts to say okay.

          9  And a good example is training. Really important is

         10  the training component. I think next week we begin a

         11  formal training program with new hires. So, now,

         12  from now forward any new hire is going to be

         13  properly trained, that hasn't happened -- or

         14  formally trained, that hasn't happened in the past.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And,

         16  Commissioner, when will all 95 employees, the new

         17  employees be on line? Do you have a date on that? A

         18  target date?

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Again, you

         20  know, Captain DeSimone, the report calls for hiring

         21  senior level individuals, as well as deckhands and

         22  oilers and training staff. So, I don't have a

         23  definite time frame, but I know that Captain

         24  DeSimone has already started talking to me other

         25  senior level people he'd like to bring on board.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: As a ferry

          3  rider, again, dealing with the problem on the bridge

          4  and those things are very much appreciated. But

          5  Admiral, in the report, I don't see much discussion

          6  about the loading, unloading, about terminal

          7  capacity, about safety in those regards. At least

          8  what I could read was mostly about operation of the

          9  vessel.

         10                 Did your staff analyze that?

         11                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: No. We did not

         12  take a look at terminal operations. It's certainly

         13  something we can do. But the initial focus was to

         14  pull a team together and get recommendations on the

         15  boats themselves out as quickly as possible.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Did you

         17  personally take part in a surveying and the

         18  observations?

         19                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Because of the

         20  importance of this assessment, I wanted to be kept

         21  appraised. I did ride the ferries in the beginning

         22  and did some discussion -- certainly met with the

         23  Commissioner and the First Deputy Commissioner, and

         24  a number of other folks in the DOT. So, yes, in the

         25  initial stages I was involved and have definitely
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          2  kept on top of what's been going on.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Did you have

          4  an opportunity to personally observe the loading and

          5  unloading operations, and the terminal operations?

          6                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I did. At

          7  rushhour I went and took a couple of trips back and

          8  forth.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And do you

         10  have any opinions yourself as to the quality of

         11  those operations, the capacity of those operations

         12  on both sides as they currently exist? Or at least

         13  say existed during your observation?

         14                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I wouldn't

         15  pretend to be an expert on it. I didn't see any

         16  overt problems, but I made two trips and I don't

         17  think that's enough to make a proper assessment.

         18                 But I did note that the new terminals

         19  are being built, and it's difficult to judge the

         20  quality of the terminals right now because you're in

         21  the construction phase.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But shouldn't

         23  loading and unloading and lighting outside the

         24  terminals and walkway safety and whether or not

         25  there are leaks and slippery floors and all those
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          2  things, shouldn't that be a consideration in terms

          3  of the overall safety picture and what we're talking

          4  about? I mean, if you have to give an overall

          5  assessment, you would have to know about that as

          6  well, wouldn't you?

          7                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think that's

          8  an important factor, but I think, again, what the

          9  City DOT was focusing on, was initially, and our

         10  work isn't necessarily finished, the Commissioner

         11  hasn't said, thanks so much, we'll take it from

         12  here. What we've heard from the folks at the DOT is

         13  they want an ongoing relationship with us and they

         14  want us to take a look at all kinds of other things

         15  just to make sure that proper changes are being

         16  implemented and to continue the reassessment.

         17                 So, your thoughts on the terminals I

         18  think are important.

         19                 I think another thing that we haven't

         20  even discussed are the private terminals that the

         21  DOT is responsible for. Yet another thing that needs

         22  to be considered. But that's another project.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But the

         24  people of Staten Island want to know, and all the

         25  people of the City of New York who use this facility

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  would also want to make sure that their brothers and

          3  sisters who use it, we can answer this question for

          4  them, and the tourists who were so important to New

          5  York City as well. We have to be able to tell them

          6  that every single day, right now, if you use the

          7  ferry is it safe, and from the moment you went to

          8  the terminal to the moment you leave. And I'm not so

          9  sure that we can answer that question if an

         10  assessment has not been done across the board of the

         11  safety considerations of the whole operation.

         12                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think there

         13  is no question, there is value in doing what you're

         14  suggesting, but at the same time I would answer that

         15  it is safe. And why do I say that? I would say that

         16  because the federal agencies involved in monitoring

         17  safety, like the Coast Guard and OSHA in the case of

         18  the terminals have deemed it safe.

         19                 Now, does that mean it can't be made

         20  better? No, it can be made better. Is it safe? The

         21  answer is yes. I don't think the Commissioner, the

         22  Mayor or you folks would allow the ferries to

         23  operate if you didn't think that they were safe.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Let me ask

         25  you this, Admiral: Looking at the safety of an
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          2  operation like the ferry, certainly the size of the

          3  crowd that has to load every time, keeping a service

          4  that is reliable and is used more frequently, would

          5  you agree with this, and having a more frequent

          6  service, would you agree that that would lead to a

          7  safer condition?

          8                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: There's no

          9  question that throughput of people and cargo and

         10  freight, which we're also experts in, lends itself

         11  to safety. But, again, I don't know enough about the

         12  throughput of folks during the times that you're

         13  talking about, I think to give an accurate

         14  assessment, I can only give you a guess.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But clearly,

         16  enhancing throughput, that is how frequently you run

         17  a boat, how frequent, what type of schedule you run,

         18  that has a relation to safety, does it not?

         19                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Throughput of

         20  cargo and passengers, it's the same, it does relate

         21  to safety, sure, no question about it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, if you

         23  run a boat much less frequently, it is less safe

         24  than if you run a boat more frequently.

         25                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Only if the
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          2  demand is there that warrants extra service.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, when

          4  you talk about safety, though, certainly attention

          5  to detail, attention to the service you are

          6  providing, the human factor, which was such a factor

          7  in this accident, is something that you have to look

          8  at, isn't it?

          9                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Well, we didn't

         10  look at the accident per se.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, no, I

         12  don't mean to do that. I'm not talking about the

         13  accident itself. I'm talking about human attention

         14  to detail is a factor in safety, is it not?

         15                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, if you

         17  had to provide a service on a very infrequent basis,

         18  then you would have less attention to detail, would

         19  you grant that?

         20                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Let me give you

         21  an analogy here in New York. I fly the shuttle, the

         22  U.S. Air and Delta Shuttles all the time. I've also

         23  been a passenger on those shuttles when the

         24  terminals were being renovated. So, I'm a little bit

         25  familiar with the congestion that goes on during
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          2  rushhour in the shuttles, probably more than I am in

          3  the Staten Island Ferry.

          4                 And the shuttle will only add extra

          5  aircraft if the demand warrants it. If the demand

          6  doesn't warrant it, there isn't a need, they're not

          7  going to put the service there.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But the

          9  scheduled plane flies irrespective of how many

         10  people show up for it, because it's a service that

         11  you can depend on, you use it because it's reliable,

         12  it's frequent. You know, if you miss a plane another

         13  one will be there in a reasonable time.

         14                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Well, I think

         15  the ferry is there the same way, isn't it?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Have you ever

         17  missed a ferry at 2:30 in the morning on a Saturday

         18  night?

         19                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I have.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And sat there

         21  for an hour?

         22                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I have.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And you sat

         24  for an hour?

         25                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Do you say to

          3  yourself this would probably be better if it was

          4  every half an hour?

          5                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: I think it

          6  would be great to have a ferry every five minutes.

          7  Believe me.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thanks for

          9  your honesty.

         10                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Joining ships

         11  at Howland Hook at 2:30 in the morning, you bet I'd

         12  like a Staten Island Ferry there when I arrive. It

         13  doesn't always happen.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And one could

         15  probably argue that having more frequent service

         16  would invite more people to use it.

         17                 I mean, have you seen that in your

         18  experience and certainly with the shuttle, the fact

         19  that it's frequent, and it's reliable, invites

         20  people to use it, right? You use the shuttle because

         21  you know it's going to be there, and if you miss

         22  one, a half an hour later there's another one.

         23                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Or an hour,

         24  depending on the time --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Depending on
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          2  the time.

          3                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But for a

          5  plane or a ferry, that's certainly something that it

          6  would not be unreasonable for the people of Staten

          7  Island to expect, would it?

          8                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Right. I think

          9  there needs to be the demand there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Commissioner,

         11  let me ask you, you mentioned in your testimony that

         12  if the federal government were to provide us with

         13  additional resources, that you would in effect

         14  provide more frequent service, I thought, at night

         15  time; is that what you said?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: What I was

         17  talking about is the proposal with Congressman

         18  Fossella presented to the agency as part of the

         19  Tea-3 or TEA-LU federal funding. Each Congressman

         20  was given a certain dollar amount for earmarks.

         21  Congressman Fossella came to the City and basically

         22  said that what he would like to do as his earmark is

         23  take $14 million of that to buy some fast ferries

         24  for the Staten Island Ferry.

         25                 I think that that proposal is as a
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          2  result of some conversations that we had with the

          3  Congressman on this very topic that you bring up

          4  about half hour service at night, and we had a

          5  rather in-depth conversation about the size of our

          6  ship, the manning requirements, and he said why

          7  don't you buy smaller boats? And I said, well,

          8  because we don't have the money. And he said, well,

          9  the transportation bill is being negotiated now,

         10  what if I put an earmark in, and that's what I was

         11  talking about. The Congressman thought it might be

         12  an enhancement to the Staten Island service if he

         13  were able to buy three or four fast ferries, which

         14  would require less manning and therefore would cost

         15  us less money to run.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But I'm very

         17  confused, because he calls it an enhancement, which

         18  I call a necessity. You'd be willing to run the

         19  ferries? I mean, from your testimony I got the sense

         20  that it makes absolutely no sense.

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No, I didn't

         22  say that. I said that was the Congressman's proposal

         23  to provide half-hour service. That's what he was

         24  seeking when he put his earmark in, the City did not

         25  affirmatively ever say that they would provide the
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          2  half hour service.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, did you

          4  tell him not to provide the funding because you're

          5  not going to provide the service?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I have no

          7  right to tell the Congressman what earmarks to put

          8  in or not to put in. He has the right to put

          9  whatever earmarks, as all members and delegations

         10  have the right to put whatever earmarks in that they

         11  would like to seek in the federal --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But surely

         13  you have the right to tell us if those boats were

         14  delivered to you, whether or not you would run the

         15  service.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, in

         17  addition I did tell the Congressman that the $14

         18  million wasn't sufficient, completely sufficient for

         19  this type of fast ferry operation that he was

         20  envisioning, that capital improvements would have to

         21  be made to these very new terminals that we're

         22  constructing now. You may say why?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I know why.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Right. Our

         25  boats are front-loaded, the fast ferries are side
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          2  loaded and we don't have the capacity to take side

          3  loading boats.

          4                 We had a long conversation with the

          5  Congressman about, well, maybe these boats could go

          6  to Pier 11, which I did not like at all. I didn't

          7  like that idea at all. Here we're spending hundreds

          8  of million dollars on new terminals, which will be

          9  secure and people know where they are, so I was not

         10  happy with that solution.

         11                 And in addition, $14 million was not

         12  enough to buy three or four new fast ferries,

         13  they're going to cost far in excess of that.

         14                 So, this is an ongoing process. I

         15  know the Congressman may be seeking other federal

         16  financing, as well as trying to get the other

         17  members of the delegation, maybe some of the

         18  senators to put money into the bill as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But why go

         20  through that whole exercise if there's absolutely no

         21  demand or need to run these ferries. As I understood

         22  from the testimony, it's not necessary to enhance

         23  safety --

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman, I

         25  think that's a question that you should make of the
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          2  Congressman. This was his desire and this was his

          3  priority, in terms of how he envisioned he would

          4  like to see his transportation money used. I cannot

          5  tell the Congressman not to put it in. This was his

          6  vision for what he wanted to see for his

          7  constituents.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You hate to

          9  give someone a present they're not going to use.

         10                 Are you saying that under no

         11  circumstances you could envision a need or a purpose

         12  to run half-hour ferries through the night?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: What he said

         14  to the Congressman is that we would like to continue

         15  this dialogue.

         16                 Remember, the smaller ferries that

         17  he's envisioning buying are not of the nature that

         18  would seat 1,200 people like the Austen. He's

         19  looking at ferries in the range of 200 to 400

         20  people. So, this is something that we would sort of

         21  like to engage in a dialogue with him, and see where

         22  this leads us.

         23                 I might also add that the president

         24  has said that he's going to be vetoing this

         25  Transportation bill. So, this may just be a
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          2  philosophical exercise on behalf of the Congressman

          3  and DOT.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, when you

          5  say in your testimony that it's a possible solution,

          6  that's wishful thinking? Too strong of a word?

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I think

          8  that's too strong of a word. I think it's a dialogue

          9  that we want to keep with the Congressman, as well

         10  as we agree with him that the demand justifies

         11  smaller boats. The demand is about on average, you

         12  know, would justify a 400-seat or a 200-seat boat.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I still don't

         14  know if my question has been answered; and that is,

         15  under any scenario, do you see a situation, whether

         16  you had the boats or didn't have the boats, where

         17  you would say we will run the half-hour ferry

         18  through the night, other than being mandated by

         19  legislation? Whether you have the small boats or

         20  not, whether they fit into the dock? And I don't

         21  mean to interrupt --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No, that's

         23  okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I just want

         25  to cover all --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: You want to

          3  make the question very complicated?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Not so

          5  complicated. What I'm trying to make it all

          6  inclusive. There should be no contingency in my

          7  question. It should be very straight forward.

          8                 Under the best case scenario, no

          9  matter what condition you may think exists, if that

         10  were satisfied, do you see a way that you would run

         11  these boats into the night and on the weekend unless

         12  you were mandated by legislation.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: What my First

         14  Deputy is pointing out to me, which is my testimony,

         15  if demand justified that type of use and we were

         16  able to get over the hurdle of the capital

         17  improvements that would need to be made to these

         18  terminals, no way are we precluding it, but that

         19  would have to show that demand was there for that

         20  type of need.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: One more, two

         22  more, Mr. Chairman, I know I will have to turn the

         23  microphone over to my colleagues.

         24                 Have you ever been in any type of

         25  survey or study? And I know since October you've
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          2  been very busy, but say before that, try to assess

          3  whether or not if the ferry ran every half hour in

          4  the night or on the weekend, that the demand would

          5  in fact go up?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I have not

          7  done such a study, no.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         10  Member McMahon.

         11                 We have questions from Council Member

         12  Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 I wasn't going to start with this,

         16  Commissioner, but just to follow up on the last

         17  series of questions. Have you or DOT ever been

         18  approached by any private enterprise seeking to use

         19  your facilities in providing nighttime service?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Not during my

         21  tenure, no.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

         23  the last time you testified on this issue, back in

         24  November, I used a phrase something to the effect

         25  about taking a broom to ferry operations. And I'm
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          2  not sure if you were pleased with that comment. I

          3  know certainly I got some feedback from personnel

          4  down at St. George, weren't happy about that. I was

          5  really talking about the culture, but I will own up

          6  to the fact that in removing the culture, it

          7  probably meant that personnel, be it labor and

          8  management had to go as well.

          9                 I just wanted to say to you that, in

         10  viewing the material that you provided today, in

         11  reviewing the material that we received previously,

         12  I think you have begun that process. I think you've

         13  taken more than a broom to it, and I'm very happy

         14  with that, and I think the people of Staten Island

         15  are happy for that.

         16                 I think what we've heard today so far

         17  from the Chairman and my colleague Council Member

         18  McMahon, is some built-up frustration, some

         19  frustration that's been built up well before, as I

         20  said at the previous hearing, we were in elective

         21  office well before you were Commissioner of DOT, and

         22  I think that's why they are very anxious to have a

         23  very set timetable and know certain milestones. But

         24  the overarching point, changing the culture, I think

         25  you've begun to do that, and I think it all flows
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          2  from there. How quickly we get to the substantive

          3  changes is a source of concern by my colleagues.

          4                 But in your testimony, and along the

          5  lines of personnel and how quickly we get the

          6  substantive changes, in two points of your

          7  testimony, on page four and five, yes, four and

          8  five, you talk about how GMATS strongly recommends

          9  the fact that existing Staten Island Ferry personnel

         10  should be involved in developing the SMS, and again,

         11  talking about technical training and professional

         12  development.

         13                 My question is, how has current

         14  personnel taken to the changes made to date and the

         15  level of cooperation needed to really achieve the

         16  substantive changes that Councilman McMahon and

         17  Chairman Liu are talking about? How is the level of

         18  cooperation? Has it been an impediment to date? And

         19  are you optimistic that these folks are ready to buy

         20  into the new culture at this institution?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Let me say

         22  that whenever you have change there is going to be

         23  some resistance. I will say that what has been a

         24  tremendous help and a tremendous asset to us, is

         25  working with the presidents of both unions that
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          2  represent both the deckhands and captains and

          3  assistant captains. Many of the staff that I have

          4  spoken to out there that other personnel at DOT have

          5  spoken to have really welcomed this new approach and

          6  this change.

          7                 Again, having said that, there are

          8  going to be some people who are resistant to change,

          9  and will not like to see a new ferry system.

         10                 What I have said publicly before is

         11  those individuals will either fit into the new

         12  system where they'll have to seek employment

         13  elsewhere.

         14                 But I would have to say overall the

         15  staff has been both welcoming and very complimentary

         16  of the approach that we're taking.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: On page six of

         18  your testimony, in point number five you talk about

         19  how GMATS advises that there specific

         20  recommendations are subject and modification as

         21  their assessment of the ferry operations continues;

         22  how long will they continue?

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As long as I

         24  am Commissioner GMATS will be involved in the

         25  overall change in whatever reforms that we have to
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          2  make. We have found them to be a tremendous asset

          3  and partner, in terms of guiding us during this

          4  period of time. So, I envision that GMATS will be

          5  involved with DOT going forward forever.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you codify

          7  that relationship? Do you formalize it? That's the

          8  word I was looking for.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: There's a

         10  contract between DOT and GMATS, and we'll extend it.

         11                 As I said, OMB has been very

         12  forthcoming in terms of providing assets for us to

         13  be able to continue this relationship.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The Rear Admiral

         15  mentioned something about the new hires and the

         16  training for new hires. You hired new deckhands.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Seven of them

         18  will be starting.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Could you, if

         20  you can, walk us through some of the process in

         21  terms of, is there a filtering process? Staten

         22  Island Advance has had some articles about some

         23  certain employees and some alleged problems. I

         24  assume that the new folks are being filtered in a

         25  much more stringent manner than previously.
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          2                 Are there any numbers that you can

          3  share with us? The pool we started with and how many

          4  we ended up with?

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Let me just

          6  tell you that this group of hires went to probably

          7  one of the more stringent filtering that I've ever

          8  seen City employees go through. But to begin at the

          9  beginning of the process, we really set a wide range

         10  in terms of identifying candidates with the deckhand

         11  positions. We advertise in all the newspapers, we

         12  use GMATS website to help us, which is a

         13  far-reaching website, we advertise all these

         14  positions. We put advertisements in the Maritime

         15  Reporter, the Marine News, the Marine Log Magazine,

         16  you know, Work Boat, any type of boating magazine we

         17  could find. And these individuals have gone through

         18  extensive both background checks, they've been

         19  fingerprinted, and we've extensively checked out

         20  their resumes. So, I have to tell you, in my career

         21  in City government, this is the most extensive

         22  background check that we've done on employees. Let

         23  me just say, going forward we plan to do this type

         24  of extensive background check on all new hires of

         25  the Staten Island Ferry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Could you just

          3  elaborate on the role of Rear Admiral North? I mean,

          4  you have GMATS and you've hired Rear Admiral North,

          5  and I assume you didn't hire him just to --

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: To say that

          7  you have another admiral on board?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The under and

          9  over on admirals was won.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

         11                 Admiral North, as I said, was a

         12  commander of the port of New York. He has extensive

         13  maritime experience, and why we hired Admiral North

         14  is because GMATS was making a number of

         15  recommendations, some of which, to be honest with

         16  you, we were not maritime experts, and what we

         17  wanted to do is we wanted to have a check on GMATS,

         18  to make sure that what they were recommending

         19  actually made sense within the confines of what we

         20  were trying to accomplish. So that was number one.

         21                 Number two, when we got the 120

         22  resumes from the Chief Operating Officer, GMATS sat

         23  with us and went through those 120 resumes. Of

         24  course, as you go through that process, it comes

         25  down to the wire and you decide to interview ten or
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          2  20 of those individuals. And GMATS sat with us when

          3  we had that first level of interviews. And then for

          4  the final interviews, because we arrived at four or

          5  five very good candidates, we asked Admiral North,

          6  not only to review their resumes, but to sit in on

          7  those interviews as well, to be yet another check.

          8                 So, the final interviews was Admiral

          9  McMahon, Admiral North, myself, and the First

         10  Deputy, sat in on those interviews.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In Appendix C,

         12  there is a sample long-term management organization

         13  Matrix. Now, I don't know when all is said and done

         14  if this will resemble in any way, shape or form the

         15  leadership of the ferry. But a two-part question:

         16  One is, is there a similar Matrix and hierarchy

         17  today? And how different is it today before the

         18  changes are being made to what this is right here?

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The current

         20  organizational chart looks very different than what

         21  you see here. Just let me say that one of the

         22  changes that GMATS recommended, which we had

         23  embraced whole-heartedly, is that we have a Director

         24  of Ferry Operation who does both, performs the

         25  function now of Senior Port Engineer, as well as
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          2  Senior Port Captain.

          3                 GMATS very clearly pointed out that

          4  that's quite a job for anybody to do, and so that's

          5  why they have recommended that we have a Senior Port

          6  Engineer and a Senior Port Captain. Who, one would

          7  really focus on vessel maintenance, the other one

          8  would really be an operations individual.

          9                 So, what you see here is very

         10  different than what exists now.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And how likely

         12  is the final --

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Captain

         14  DeSimone has looked at this organization chart, and

         15  has not told us that he will not be following this

         16  organization.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Will you have

         18  the resources to hire these people, or these folks,

         19  Director of Terminal Engineering, et cetera, et

         20  cetera, will they be current?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: All of these

         22  positions will be budgeted, in a budget that you see

         23  that comes out next week. And as I said, Captain

         24  DeSimone has already identified possible candidates

         25  for some of these positions, but all of them will be
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          2  filled at the end of the road.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Last question,

          4  Mr. Chairman, is just in reference to the Barberi.

          5                 Council Members McMahon, Lanza and I,

          6  for that matter, all of our colleagues, but

          7  particularly those on Staten Island, have gone to a

          8  horrific amount of memorials in the last two plus

          9  years.

         10                 With reference to the Barberi, when

         11  it goes back on line will there be something in the

         12  boat to recognize the fact that there was an awful

         13  tragedy?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As a matter

         15  of fact, I spoke with Commissioner Greenspun of the

         16  CAU Unit just yesterday. We finalized the design for

         17  a plaque that we would like to go up in the Barberi,

         18  which would memorialize in some way what happened on

         19  that night in October, and Commissioner Greenspun

         20  will be reaching out to the families, both to share

         21  with them the design of the plaque, as well as to

         22  get the approval of placing their loved ones' names

         23  on the plaque.

         24                 So, this horrific event will not go

         25  undocumented on the Barberi itself.

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

          3  compared to where we are in November, obviously I

          4  think you're up to a very good start. Obviously

          5  there's a whole lot of work left, and clearly you

          6  can have the Transportation Committee of the Council

          7  watching every step. So we appreciate the

          8  cooperation, and we still have a lot of work left to

          9  do.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         12  Member Oddo.

         13                 And questions from Council Member

         14  Lanza.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Commissioner, first let me say that I

         18  welcome and I encourage you to continue those

         19  discussions with Congressman Fossella, and anyone

         20  else who would be willing to provide funding to

         21  address the need for additional and expanded

         22  service. And I would also encourage you to keep open

         23  the question of providing that. I think there are

         24  very good arguments to be made. Certainly with

         25  respect to rushhour service, around that eight
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          2  o'clock boat, we could talk about whether or not

          3  perhaps you need two eight o'clock boats, but

          4  certainly there is a need for it and I encourage you

          5  to continue those conversations.

          6                 But because I believe that people

          7  ought to hear the good news along with the bad news,

          8  I want to also thank you for your leadership. I

          9  think if there is a silver lining in what happened

         10  on October 15th it's that the overhaul, long overdue

         11  has come under your leadership.

         12                 Sometimes there's a misplaced

         13  nostalgia when it comes to things. I've been riding

         14  the Staten Island Ferry for 25 years, perhaps not as

         15  long as some, but certainly longer, and before you

         16  became the DOT Commissioner, and I can tell you that

         17  there has been problems for a long, long time,

         18  particularly under one administration in the late

         19  eighties, early nineties, who viewed the Staten

         20  Island Ferry Terminal more as a shelter than as a

         21  transportation hub, and so it has had its problems.

         22                 And I can tell you, Mr. Chairman, in

         23  my tenure here in the City Council, during our so

         24  many oversight hearings and the thousands of

         25  questions that have been raised by this City Council
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          2  on so many important issues, I have never seen a

          3  more in-depth, a more detailed and I think a more

          4  responsive move to actions than that which I have

          5  seen evidenced today in your testimony and I just

          6  want to thank you for really responding to what I

          7  see and what I know you'd recognize to be a call to

          8  action here.

          9                 As you said, you are undertaking the

         10  most dramatic and broad and aggressive overhaul of

         11  the ferry operation in its history ever. And while I

         12  would agree with those who say that the terminal

         13  looks in some respects to be a construction site, I

         14  also view that to be good news, because as I said,

         15  it's the first time in my lifetime, certainly I

         16  don't know ever that we've actually seen some good

         17  news, which is that we're going to have a new

         18  terminal, both at Staten Island and at Manhattan.

         19  And that's good news, and we understand that while

         20  we do that, we have to do so carefully, we've got to

         21  keep in mind the safety of the riders and the

         22  passengers and do it in a fashion that doesn't

         23  interfere with ridership. But that is good news, and

         24  I think people need to hear that as well, that for

         25  the first time in its history we're going to take as
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          2  Councilman Oddo suggested, I'll use a different

          3  word, but a ground up or a water up really revival

          4  and overhaul of this system that I think will put us

          5  on track to ensure that we will not see the sort of

          6  disaster that we saw on October 15th, beyond

          7  ensuring the safety really bringing this operation

          8  to a world class premier system. So, I just want to

          9  thank you for your leadership, and I encourage you

         10  to continue to keep us updated with respect to the

         11  time lines or the things you've begun and continue

         12  to do. Thank you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair, for bringing this hearing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         17  Member Lanza.

         18                 I have one more very quick question,

         19  and I know Council Member McMahon has a few more

         20  follow-up questions.

         21                 We wanted to defer to our colleagues

         22  so that they would have some time to answer their

         23  questions as well.

         24                 I just have a brief question about

         25  whether there are any plans to -- well, I think a
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          2  few months ago there was a report that spoke to the

          3  fact that the diversity among the personnel at the

          4  Staten Island Ferry is something that needs

          5  improvement, and with all these changes going on, is

          6  there an intent, a concerted effort, to diversify

          7  the workforce at the Staten Island Ferry?

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I was just

          9  trying to get an update on the first Deputy on the

         10  seven that were just hired, because I know that

         11  there was --

         12                 Let me just say that with all the

         13  outreach that we have done just in these last few

         14  months, clearly we always strive to have as much

         15  diversity as possible, and we will continue to try

         16  and get the best qualified and the most diverse

         17  workforce for the Staten Island Ferry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Will those efforts

         19  -- there is something to be said for what

         20  Councilman Oddo said last November about the culture

         21  at the Staten Island Ferry, it's something that has

         22  been there long before you began as Commissioner, in

         23  fact many of their staff began their tenure at your

         24  department in trying to diversify that workforce.

         25                 Are those efforts going to be
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          2  complimentary? Or are they going to butt up against

          3  the other efforts with regard to the personal

          4  changes required in the implementation of the GMATS

          5  study?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I think all

          7  of this is going to work in tandem together. You

          8  know, we're viewing, this is a very open system and

          9  one that we're seeking as much input from all walks

         10  of life and all points of society.

         11                 Let me just say also that you talk

         12  about the changes and the diversity and the culture

         13  out there, a couple of things that had appeared in

         14  some of the publications, as well as we've talked

         15  about, one has to do with drug and alcohol testing,

         16  which I know has been in the news not only regarding

         17  DOT but some other City agencies as well. I just

         18  want to point out that we've instituted a new policy

         19  where we have zero tolerance for drugs and alcohol,

         20  and we've also instituted 100 percent random drug

         21  and alcohol testing, and all new candidates are

         22  going to be undergoing medical screening to see if

         23  there are any issues with drugs and alcohol.

         24                 So, I know that was an area that was

         25  talked about about the old culture of the ferries.
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          2                 In addition, an issue arose right

          3  after the accident about residency. We've instituted

          4  a process to verify that all current and future

          5  Staten Island Ferry employees comply with the City's

          6  residency requirements, as well as all employees had

          7  to submit an affidavit as to where they live and

          8  they had to have that affidavit notarized.

          9                 I might point out that three

         10  employees of the ferries pointed out that they

         11  didn't live in the City. One has moved into the

         12  City, two have told us that they will not move into

         13  the City and they have been brought up on charges

         14  and are awaiting an OATH hearing. So, we have dealt

         15  with the residence requirement. As well as, we have

         16  done extensive background investigations on all new

         17  Staten Island Ferry employees. So, these are issues

         18  that are discussed about the culture of the Staten

         19  Island Ferry, and these are areas that we have dealt

         20  with in the past six months.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The reason I ask

         22  those questions is that, as you try to diversify the

         23  workforce, that often does require a change in the

         24  thinking or some kind of adjustment in the culture

         25  of a workforce.

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 Similarly, the implementation of the

          3  recommendations from GMATS will also require some

          4  kind of cultural change. So, I hope that all of

          5  these different cultural changes can be managed in a

          6  way that they become, that you can find that they

          7  compliment each other rather than start to detract

          8  from each other and start pulling the Staten Island

          9  ferry personnel in different directions?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, that's

         11  why the SMS system and the Admiral talked about it,

         12  that you need buy in from the existing staff, and

         13  that's part of the process that they're going to go

         14  through. I don't know if you want to talk about

         15  that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, to my previous

         17  experience, prior to becoming a member of the City

         18  Council, changing personnel and the strategies

         19  employed to manage those changes is not an easy

         20  thing to do and you can only demand so much buy-in

         21  from employees and a workforce before things start

         22  to turn the other way. So, I certainly would caution

         23  you with respect to getting all of that buy-in in so

         24  many different fronts.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And then final

          3  questions from Council Member McMahon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Commissioner, the 95 new employees,

          7  you described their sort of job titles, but how

          8  would they be deployed on a boat, or say per boat?

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: The staffing

         10  levels are still going to stay the same on the

         11  boats, and they are determined by the Coast Guard.

         12  They tell us how much staff we have to have.

         13                 The reason we need the additional

         14  staff is for this training component that the

         15  Admiral talked about, the SMS system. Currently, you

         16  know, we do on the job training, and under the SMS

         17  system, you would both do training at the Academy as

         18  well as training on this new boat that we're going

         19  to keep to do the training, but you need to have the

         20  staff to be able to rotate on and off the boats to

         21  be able to do that type of training.

         22                 Right now we do a lot of training on

         23  overtime. Our goal is not to have to do that. So,

         24  the goal is to have additional staff, so that number

         25  one, you can do the training; and number two, as
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          2  pointed out by Councilman Oddo, there are additional

          3  new functions that we're requiring and therefore

          4  we're going to have to staff those functions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: There's no

          6  new function on the boat. So, again, the crew --

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Except the

          8  one additional person in the pilot house, maybe you

          9  want to talk about that, Admiral?

         10                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Yes, sir. There

         11  will be an extra person in the pilot house. Right

         12  now the City, in the past states required two, that

         13  is not a Coast Guard requirement, never was.  The

         14  Coast Guard only requires one, but the City has had

         15  a model of two. And what we felt was that two is a

         16  good model, but in reality people have to go to the

         17  head. It would be a good idea to make security tours

         18  effective July 1st, vessels will be required to have

         19  a security officer. So, this new person can serve as

         20  a security officer, make tours, so there will always

         21  be two licensed captains on the bridge in any one

         22  time, but there's a third captain on the boat. So

         23  that is an extra crew person.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And that

         25  extra crew person would be an actual Captain, or
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          2  Assistant Captain?

          3                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: Correct.

          4  Licensed Captain. So, you'll have three licensed

          5  captain on every vessel. On every vessel. There's

          6  two right now.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. I did

          8  have some questions about overtime and things, but

          9  maybe I'll wait until the budget hearing. It might

         10  be more appropriate for that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'll look

         12  forward to it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay,

         14  likewise.

         15                 Let me just conclude by echoing, and

         16  I won't have to repeat the comments that my

         17  colleagues, all my colleagues made today. I do

         18  believe in what they said is true. But I also

         19  believe, which I showed you my poster, I promised a

         20  young girl from Staten Island that I would hold this

         21  up because she made it for me. That this poster --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I would have

         23  brought a prop too, if I knew.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You did. You

         25  brought an Admiral.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I brought an

          3  admiral.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But what the

          5  sign says, for the record, is quite simply a picture

          6  of the Staten Island Ferry with the 24/7 every 30

          7  minutes.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Open it up so

          9  the Advance can --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'm going to

         11  do my best to do that. And I'm going to point out

         12  that as much as I shared my gratitude for everything

         13  that you've done, for me there's a passion and a

         14  belief that more reliable service equals safety, and

         15  I think that that's what we will continue, with your

         16  understanding, we will continue to advocate for

         17  that, and I think that there may be a basic

         18  misunderstanding.

         19                 But we had that before. We had that

         20  maybe from when we introduced the bill, and that's

         21  what makes the world go around.

         22                 But I certainly strongly echo my

         23  colleague's comments of gratitude and appreciation

         24  for all that you do for the people of the City of

         25  New York, and we look forward to seeing you soon.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  Member McMahon. And I certainly want to thank

          5  Commissioner Weinshall and First Deputy Commissioner

          6  Bergtraum for testifying here today, and to thank

          7  the Admiral for his time and to deeply apologize for

          8  my colleague characterizing you as a prop.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: His name is

         11  McMahon.

         12                 REAR ADMIRAL McMAHON: He can do that.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: There are

         16  folks here who are going to testify and, of course,

         17  someone will stay behind to hear.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Our next panel will

         19  consist of three activists, Tamara Coomhs, Susan

         20  McAnanama and John Luisi.

         21                 Good afternoon. Thank you for

         22  attending our hearing this afternoon, and for your

         23  patience and perseverence.

         24                 Would Ms. Coomhs please proceed? Or

         25  if the three of you wish any other order, we can
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          2  certainly feel free.

          3                 MS. COOMHS: Thank you. I'm Tamara

          4  Coomhs, Chair of the Ferry Riders Committee. I'd

          5  like to begin by following up on something

          6  Councilman McMahon said about where safety begins on

          7  the Staten Island Ferry. And ferry riders have said

          8  to us for the last ten years, the safety on the

          9  ferry starts before you get on the boat. It starts

         10  in the terminal, it starts on the approach to the

         11  terminal. This is something we brought up a week or

         12  so ago with the Commissioner, and that is right now

         13  we understand that both of the terminals are under

         14  construction, and we look forward to these new

         15  state-of-the-art terminals. But the St. George

         16  Terminal, in particular, needs attention, because

         17  the conditions on the approach are not safe. They're

         18  not safe for pedestrians, they're not safe for

         19  vehicles.

         20                 Every time the ferry riders have

         21  talked about the need for more frequent service, the

         22  two arguments against it are always the same, it's a

         23  matter of money, it's a matter of ridership

         24  expressed here today, passenger demand. As we know,

         25  no fares have been collected on the ferry, since we
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          2  went to a one-fare one-city, and the numbers I have

          3  for 2001 show that the Staten Island ferry lost

          4  $43.9 million in 2001.

          5                 I would point out that the Path lost

          6  $53.6 million. That New York City buses, New York

          7  City subways, lost 592 million. I'm told that the

          8  only subway in the world that makes money is Hong

          9  Kong, and the New York City buses lost 701 million,

         10  of which about 108 million were Staten Island buses.

         11                 So, Mass Transit is not about making

         12  money. Mass Transit is about the good of society.

         13  And in the case of the Staten Island Ferry, it means

         14  fewer overcrowded highways, it means less pollution,

         15  it means a better quality of life, not only on

         16  Staten Island, but the City, and the region as a

         17  whole.

         18                 The Councilman mentioned that

         19  budgetary hearings might be the place to talk about

         20  overtime costs and so forth, and I think that's an

         21  issue that needs to be brought up.

         22                 When we're talking on the order of $4

         23  million, $2 million, a lot of that money exists,

         24  exists in built-in overtime. And I would also point

         25  out that the DOT paid, in 2001 they paid the new

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  school to do a study on how to reduce built-in

          3  overtime costs. Two of the things that were

          4  proposed, I would hope that the Council would ask

          5  the Commissioner about; and that is the buy-back of

          6  unused time, and the adjustment of the time clock,

          7  which when the new school did the study was on

          8  half-hour increments, unlike the rest of the City,

          9  which meant that if someone clocked in a minute

         10  early and clocked out a minute late, they could pick

         11  up another five hours of overtime in a week, and

         12  that adds up into real money.

         13                 In terms of ridership, also the ferry

         14  riders have said repeatedly, this is a bit of a sore

         15  point with us, ridership, because there is no way to

         16  tell how many people are on the ferry. There has

         17  been no accurate account since 1991 when the White

         18  Hall Terminal burned and along with it, those

         19  turnstiles. What they have now are the turnstiles in

         20  the St. George Terminal. They take those, they do an

         21  estimate, do an adjustment and so forth. We've also

         22  heard through the rumor mill that those counters in

         23  the St. George terminal have been broken a good deal

         24  lately, so that calls into even more question, just

         25  what the ridership numbers are.
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          2                 The only ridership numbers that I

          3  think are absolutely reliable are those that were

          4  done by personnel who went on the boat and counted

          5  the bodies. Other than that, we don't have a count

          6  right now.

          7                 I was also very interested in the

          8  Commissioner's statement that there is no question

          9  about ridership demand when it comes to Saturday and

         10  Sundays.

         11                 Anyone who has been in either

         12  terminal on the weekends knows how many people are

         13  waiting to get across the harbor, whether there are

         14  Staten Islanders on their way to work or church or

         15  cultural events, or whether there are tourists

         16  trying to get here.

         17                 So, there's no question on demand

         18  when it comes to that.

         19                 In terms of the middle of the night

         20  ridership, presently the demand is low, and those

         21  numbers, we should mention, are all post September

         22  11th numbers, and we know on Staten Island that

         23  September 11th had a tremendous effect on ferry

         24  ridership, just in terms of tourism.

         25                 I know that one of the museums on
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          2  Staten Island that has a very attendance by

          3  international visitors had a 43 percent drop off,

          4  following September 11th. So we know that that has

          5  had a tremendous effect.

          6                 But a lot of it goes back to the

          7  question of, well, why aren't people there? Is the

          8  service available? Do they know it's available? Can

          9  they depend upon it?

         10                 If you go on a subway platform at

         11  2:00 a.m., you're not going to wait an hour for a

         12  subway to come along, and you're not going to wonder

         13  whether or not it's going to be on time one way or

         14  the other. Those are concerns, and that has a

         15  tremendous effect. Right now one of the members of

         16  the Ferry Riders Committee works over on Court

         17  Street in Brooklyn. That's a very convenient

         18  location to get to from ferry to subway to Court

         19  Street. And he comes home taking a subway and two

         20  buses coming over the Verrazano Narrows Bridge,

         21  because it's more dependable and it's faster than

         22  trying to make the ferry.

         23                 You've heard testimony before about

         24  the effects this is having on the work lives, the

         25  social lives, the cultural lives in many people.
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          2                 When the new class of ferry was being

          3  discussed ten years ago, we found that ferry riders

          4  knew what they wanted, they knew what constituted a

          5  first rate ferry, because they had some experience.

          6  I'm speaking of the design of the ferry. They had

          7  experience with the Kennedy Class boat, and that's

          8  what they looked to and they looked back to.

          9                 Frankly, Staten Island Ferry riders

         10  have not had the experience of a first class ferry

         11  operation. They have not had the experience of boats

         12  that they could depend on to be there when they were

         13  there at 2:30 in the morning, waiting in the

         14  terminal that does not have a place to buy a cup of

         15  coffee. You go two blocks to McDonalds to buy a cup

         16  of coffee. You don't have a place to retreat, and

         17  you've heard testimony before about the difficulty

         18  that causes for individuals.

         19                 Very soon we're going to have

         20  state-of-the-art terminals, state-of-the-art boats

         21  and a new era in management and we welcome that, and

         22  we welcome the GMATS study and all that it holds for

         23  the future.

         24                 The Centennial of the Ferry happens

         25  next year, October 25th, 2005, and we can think of
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          2  no better way to celebrate than to make service on

          3  the ferry, the shortest service deserved by the most

          4  famous ferry in the world and by the most famous

          5  city in the world.

          6                 Thank you so much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          8                 Ms. McAnanama.

          9                 MS. McANANAMA: Thank you. Chairman

         10  Liu, I'll just read my prepared statement.

         11                 Chairman Liu, City Council members,

         12  and fellow New Yorkers, my name is Susan McAnanama,

         13  and I'm the Director of Audience Development for the

         14  Council on the Arts and Humanities for Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 For the last four years I have worked

         17  at and managed the VISIT Center. That's an acronym

         18  for Vital Information for Staten Islanders and

         19  Tourists, at the Whitehall Ferry Terminal.

         20                 Our purpose in having the booth is to

         21  have a center where commuters and tourists have free

         22  access to the very information they need to enjoy

         23  their visit to Staten Island and to New York City.

         24                 The Visit Center is open seven days a

         25  week, Friday from ten to six and Saturday from ten
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          2  to four. Saturday and Sunday from ten to four.

          3                 We personally dispense directions,

          4  recommendations and make available brochures, maps

          5  and information to thousands of people each week

          6  with our partners from the Downtown Alliance and the

          7  DOT who provides the space.

          8                 In the transformation from the ferry

          9  terminal, from a construction project to the

         10  multi-functional terminal, we are all looking

         11  forward to, our booth has been a constant source of

         12  information to those who seek us out.

         13                 The reason I want to address this

         14  Committee is in strong support of this bill, to say

         15  that hourly ferries, during the so-called off-peak

         16  hours, are wrong for Staten Island. For Staten

         17  Island for tourists and for commuters.

         18                 Saturday and Sunday mornings, and

         19  Saturday and Sunday nights are prime time indeed. On

         20  a recent Saturday morning during Easter break, 9:40

         21  a.m., the ferry terminal was packed, the next ferry

         22  was 10:30 a.m.

         23                 For the tourist, they're happy to

         24  have a friendly face to answer their questions, but

         25  time is their main concern. It's our mission to
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          2  entice them to visit Staten Island and take time to

          3  explore our borough. Asking them to wait an hour for

          4  the boat is asking too much.

          5                 I always feel better after 11:30 a.m.

          6  on weekends when I can finally say the next boat

          7  will be here in only a half an hour.

          8                 Our local residents have been known

          9  to make their frustrations known to our staff on

         10  many occasions, when they arrive just as the boat is

         11  departing.

         12                 The question comes down to this: What

         13  kind of mass transit do we deserve? I feel we need

         14  mass transit we can rely on that is frequent enough

         15  to encourage us out of our cars and into the waiting

         16  room of the Staten Island Ferry. We can end the

         17  virtual isolation of our borough, with this

         18  relatively inexpensive service increase. The DOT

         19  always counters that their number count doesn't

         20  justify more frequent service. That is a circuitous

         21  argument. If we have the service, the people will

         22  use it. How many people are on each subway car

         23  during the late night hours? Should subways only run

         24  once an hour? Of course not. This is New York City,

         25  and Staten Island is an important part of our City.
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          2                 On a personal note, Saturday nights

          3  are the worst. Many Staten Island residents spend

          4  time going to Manhattan and prefer to use mass

          5  transit. When we go by ferry, I'm talking personally

          6  now, we're always anxious about making the ferry. It

          7  starts like really right before dinner ends. Our

          8  friends who take the subway to Flushing in Queens

          9  know that there will be one along in ten to 12

         10  minutes max.

         11                 On a recent outing we left the

         12  theater with them at 11:00 p.m. at Times Square. My

         13  husband and I missed the 11:30 ferry and had to wait

         14  until 12:30 a.m. We arrived home after 1:00 a.m.,

         15  while our friends took the E Train and arrived home

         16  in Flushing by 11:25 p.m.

         17                 Staten Islanders deserve their fair

         18  share of rapid transit, and believe me, on Saturdays

         19  and Sundays, the ferry is anything but. And if

         20  that's not enough to convince you, consider the

         21  young folks who like to dance until dawn. My

         22  daughter has been frequenting the ferry after hours

         23  for years. Sure I'd like her to stay on Staten

         24  Island. But it's tough when they're meeting friends

         25  from Brooklyn and the Bronx and Long Island in
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          2  Manhattan. That means late nights turn even later

          3  when they have to wait in the ferry terminal for an

          4  hour.

          5                 With more boats we'd have less kids

          6  driving when they shouldn't be, and using our

          7  convenient mass transit system.

          8                 In closing, I hope you consider this

          9  a parity issue for Staten Islanders. By investing in

         10  frequent ferry service, you're investing in giving

         11  us equal access to our City.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         14                 And last, but certainly not least,

         15  John Luisi.

         16                 MR. LUISI: Thank you, Chairman Liu.

         17  And certainly Council members from Staten Island,

         18  Michael McMahon, Andrew Lanza, Jim Oddo, we

         19  appreciate your being here for us.

         20                 In her testimony, the Commissioner

         21  charged that this bill micromanages the system, the

         22  ferry system, and in part I believe that may in fact

         23  be so, but that's also driven by the fact that we

         24  have people who are running the system who, quite

         25  frankly, have no experience using the system.
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          2                 That's really key. If people actually

          3  had to experience on a regular basis what we have to

          4  experience, they would understand why some of the

          5  numbers are what they are. And since we are talking

          6  about numbers, let's go to the Commissioner's

          7  numbers. I find it intriguing that the passenger

          8  count on the top of page nine goes to the spring of

          9  2002. I kind of remember something happening in the

         10  fall of 2001 that contributed to a dramatic decline

         11  in ferry ridership.

         12                 There's also been issues of increased

         13  ridership due to not only the fact that some jobs

         14  relocated out of downtown, but the economy itself

         15  has been in a lag, October 15th also encouraged a

         16  lot of people to not use the ferry system, and quite

         17  frankly, the terminal conditions, even though they

         18  will result in hopefully stellar conditions for us

         19  to be able to use, make it also so that people don't

         20  want to use the ferries just now.

         21                 I believe very strongly that this

         22  bill ought to be passed. I believe that Councilman

         23  McMahon is absolutely right with his essential

         24  philosophy of they will fail.

         25                 We need to have the more frequent
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          2  service. We're going to go anecdotally as we can as

          3  people who run this system cannot.

          4                 Just last night I was in Manhattan

          5  for an event with the New York County Lawyers

          6  Association, and I ended up coming home by way of

          7  Brooklyn and the Verrazano Bridge. One of my

          8  associates who was attending the event had driven,

          9  parked in Brooklyn, and decided to take that as the

         10  way home, because they knew that they could get home

         11  that way.

         12                 We have to plan, as Staten Islanders

         13  we have to plan how we're going to get home before

         14  we leave, and that's what's missing from this

         15  equation. We have to know that we're going to take a

         16  chance, maybe we'll catch the boat, maybe we won't

         17  on the way home.

         18                 Some other numbers that I'd like to

         19  point out is just expand on one point that Tamara

         20  made with the half hour overtime clock. Essentially

         21  ten minutes a week results in seven and a half hours

         22  of pay for a deckhand or the Captain, according to

         23  their contract. I come in one minute early, I get a

         24  half an hour. I leave one minute late, I get a half

         25  an hour. That's an hour a day. Five days a week,
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          2  five hours. Five hours of overtime. Calculated as

          3  time and a half, seven and a half hours of pay for

          4  ten minutes worth of work.

          5                 That beats those little stickers that

          6  they used to have on the subways when they were

          7  filled with graffiti, you know 30 hours work for 40

          8  hours pay. This is even better.

          9                 I firmly believe that part of the

         10  culture that needs to be addressed, as everybody has

         11  so well made the point, is the fact that there is a

         12  culture of us being fleeced as taxpayers by a couple

         13  of unions. And if there's going to be a top down and

         14  bottom up shape up of what's going on in the ferry

         15  system, we need to look long and hard at the

         16  contracts that are currently in place.

         17                 These contracts are clearly

         18  negotiated in a different economic climate. It

         19  sounds kind of reminiscent upon the waterfront,

         20  quite frankly, with some of these conditions that

         21  they've agreed to. We have in office a Mayor who has

         22  taken on Teachers Union to demand productivity. I

         23  think it's only appropriate that we should also be

         24  taking on this union, in order to squeeze out more

         25  productivity. And I do firmly believe that if the
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          2  boats are there, if we knew there were going to be

          3  at a minimum half-hour service last night, I would

          4  have glad come home by boat instead of by car.

          5                 One last point I just want to make. A

          6  point was made that we have one new ferry coming

          7  into service. There are three new boats designated

          8  to come into service. At this point there was a

          9  push, a suggestion made, to name the Ferry Boat the

         10  September 11th. I made a comment last week that was

         11  covered by the Staten Island Advance that I didn't

         12  think that was particularly a good idea. We have a

         13  lot of memorials. It was a tragedy. It does need to

         14  be remembered, but I don't think we need to have

         15  thousands of commuters each day boarding a boat that

         16  will remind them so harshly so closely, so clearly,

         17  what happened when we have all of those reminders in

         18  our every day life with what we have and what we

         19  don't have with us today.

         20                 So, I would also suggest that the

         21  Committee make a suggestion that we look long and

         22  hard at naming the boat other than the September

         23  11th.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,
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          2  Mr. Luisi.

          3                 Are there any questions from the

          4  panel?

          5                 Council Member McMahon.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Mr. Luisi,

          7  are you saying to rephrase the memorial of the boat

          8  to the event of 9/11 without using that particular

          9  name? Are you saying not to dedicate it to the event

         10  itself?

         11                 MR. LUISI: I think -- it was

         12  interesting, after my comments appeared in the

         13  Advance, I was braced for a lot of negative

         14  feedback, and I have received nothing by positive

         15  feedback. So many people who were affected,

         16  everybody was affected by September 11th, and a

         17  number of people found it incredulous that the City

         18  would contemplate naming a boat September 11th. It's

         19  almost like naming an aircraft carrier December 7th.

         20  It doesn't really make a whole lot of sense.

         21                 So, we were actually going on a whole

         22  different task, and looking at the concept that next

         23  year to celebrate the centennial of the ferry

         24  service, and when we were in the Committee with the

         25  Staten Island Ferry Riders Committee of the St.
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          2  George Civic Association, we bounded around some

          3  names, and we came up with the suggestion perhaps

          4  the Centennial. Something to basically celebrate

          5  ferry service, and we found out, much to our

          6  surprise, when we met last week with the

          7  Commissioner, that they had also come up with that

          8  same name, and we would encourage further thought

          9  into that. So, I'm talking along those lines,

         10  something in the more positive nature.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I just wanted

         12  to clarify, I thought you -- I know you've gotten

         13  some e-mails as to that particular name, you know,

         14  referencing the actual date, as opposed to

         15  referencing the sacrifice of the victims, maybe the

         16  Hero, something along those lines. This is the first

         17  time I'm hearing not to memorialize the event itself

         18  at all. I just wanted to clarify what you were

         19  testifying to.

         20                 And I just want to note for the

         21  record, and I think I said this at our last hearing,

         22  Mr. Chairman, these people are true heroes of Staten

         23  Island, and they work very hard for the ferries and

         24  unlike you and I and Council Members Oddo and Lanza,

         25  they don't get paid oodles of money like we do to do
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          2  what we do every day, to volunteer efforts on behalf

          3  of the ferry riders of the City of New York. It's

          4  something that I just wanted to be reflected in the

          5  record. And when we win the battle of expanded

          6  nighttime and weekend and that rushhour hour

          7  service, it will be your victory, and I thank you

          8  for all your help. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         10  providing us with your input today. As always,

         11  public input is the most important part of what we

         12  do here.

         13                 There being no other testimony, this

         14  hearing of the City Council's Committee on

         15  Transportation is adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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